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The Northern Ireland Guardian Ad Litem Agency (NIGALA) was established as a Special Agency by
virtue of powers contained in the Health and Personal Social Services (Special Agencies) (NI) Order
1990. The Northern Ireland Guardian Ad Litem (Establishment and Constitution) Order (NI) 1995 was
introduced on 1st December 1995 making provision for the constitution of the Agency and appointment
of the Agency Board.

Northern Ireland Guardian Ad Litem Agency - Board Members
Mr Bernard Mitchell (Chair) - commenced November 2011
Mr Jim Currie (Chair) - retired October 2011
Dr Greg Kelly (Non-Executive Director)
Mrs Ann McMahon (Non-Executive Director)
Mr Alistair Steenson (Non-Executive Director)
Mr Ronnie Williamson (Executive Director)

Head Office - Centre House, Belfast
Centre House
79 Chichester Street
BELFAST
BT1 4JE

Spencer House
14-22 Spencer Road
LONDONDERRY
BT47 6QA

Dobbin Centre
Dobbin Street Lane
ARMAGH
BT61 7QL

Tel: 028 90 316550
Fax: 028 90 319811
Text: 028 90 329674

Tel: 028 71 329909
Fax: 028 71 329908
Text: 028 71 343461

Tel: 028 37 528840
Fax: 028 37 518357
Text: 028 37 518640

										
Copies of this Report may be made available in a range of different formats by contacting the Head
Office, Centre House, Belfast. The Report can also be accessed either on the Agency website:
www.nigala.hscni.net or requested via email at: admin@nigala.hscni.net
All names referred to in case studies within this report have been anonymised to protect the identity of individuals.
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Overview
by the Chairman
In September 2011 I had the honour of taking the position of Chair of the NI
Guardian Ad Litem Agency (NIGALA). I follow in the illustrious footsteps of
Corinne Philpott QC (now Her Honour Judge Philpott) who was the first Chair
of the Agency, Mary Connolly (then a solicitor, now a barrister) and Jim Currie
(former Regional Director of the NSPCC in Northern Ireland). Jim was my
immediate predecessor who served for an unprecedented eight years. I would
wish to take this opportunity to pay tribute to his sterling work for the Agency
which benefited greatly as a result of his dedication, energy and wisdom.
The NIGALA has a justifiable reputation for high
standards of professional practice in its delivery of
service to children who are the subjects of public law
proceedings and adoption proceedings. Guardians
are the voice of the child in such cases and perform
a vital role in ensuring that the child is central to
proceedings.
A worrying feature, however, is the incessant pressure
on the family justice system. The NIGALA received a
record number of appointments in care proceedings
in 2011/12, up 26% on the previous year and up
102% since 2007/08. The pressure on the system
was acknowledged in the Access to Justice Report
(August 2011) commissioned by the Justice Minister,
David Ford. The Report recommended that a review
of the family justice system in Northern Ireland was
urgently required. The Agency is in agreement and
would welcome a comprehensive review.
A blueprint for the future of health and social care
commissioned by Minister Poots, Transforming Your
Care (December 2011), also noted the increasing
pressure on children’s services. We were advised
that in 2010 there were 2,606 Looked After Children
in Northern Ireland, up 6% from 2009; also, that the
total number of children on the Child Protection
Register had increased by almost 48% from 1,593 in
2005 to 2,357 in 2010.

The challenge is to respond to the rising demand
from our services within finite resources. We intend
to do so by working collaboratively with our major
stakeholders in the social care, judicial and legal fields
and seeking the engagement of our staff throughout
the organisation.
In addressing these challenges, the Agency and those
we serve are fortunate in having a highly dedicated
and skilled workforce many of whom I have had the
pleasure of meeting since my appointment. I would
wish to express sincere appreciation on behalf of
myself and Non-Executive Board members to those
staff and also to the Executive Director, Ronnie
Williamson, and his senior management team for their
hard work and commitment throughout the year.

___________________________
Mr Bernard Mitchell, Chair
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Introduction by the
Executive Director
It is the mark of a civilised and caring society that its most vulnerable citizens are
not marginalised but, on the contrary, they are prioritised and supported in an
endeavour to enrich their lives.
There are few more vulnerable than those children
who, through no fault of their own, become the
subjects of public law and adoption proceedings in
this jurisdiction. It is the task of the Northern Ireland
Guardian Ad Litem Agency (NIGALA) to be the
‘voice’ for these children in their respective court
proceedings and to help secure an outcome which is
in their best interests.
Our constant challenge is keeping pace with demand.
In 2011/12 the overall demand in terms of new
appointments of guardians ad litem by the three tiers
of court rose again, this time by 14% compared with
the previous year. Care proceedings, in particular,
swept past the 300 mark (279 in 2010/11) to 351 by
the end of the financial year.
The growth in demand for our service, 33% over
the last four years, has not been matched by a
proportionate increase in resources and consequently
the maintenance of a high quality service to children
who are at a crossroads in their young lives remains
a pressing issue for NIGALA. In 2011/12 we sought
further efficiencies from within the service. The
NIGALA Board agreed to the transfer of funding
from two administration posts to front line services, a
difficult decision to have to make but a necessary one.
Despite this and other measures, a formal Waiting
List for the allocation of appointments of guardians ad
litem by the courts has had to be retained throughout
2011/12. The Agency is planning to take forward
a number of initiatives in the next financial year to
address the matter of excess demand over supply of
guardians ad litem.
There was, of course, much more to 2011/12 than
the issue of excess demand for our service. We were
pleased to see that the Access to Justice Review
Report (August 2011) commissioned by the Justice
Minister, Mr David Ford, commended the NIGALA
for its decision to establish its own panel of solicitors
to represent children. It was a major decision for the
Agency’s Board to break away from the Law Society’s

Children Order Panel which had become too large for
NIGALA’s purposes. However careful planning and
consultation with the Law Society was undertaken
during 2011/12 and one fully expects the NIGALA
panel to be established by the summer of 2012.
Other notable achievements have included the
development of an on-line children’s feedback
questionnaire in addition to the one to one interview
and a paper questionnaire. We also managed
to obtain funding to introduce an “In My Shoes”
programme for guardians to use as an alternative
method of eliciting the wishes and feelings of the
children whom they represent. The Agency has
additionally implemented a state-of-the-art paper case
file tracking system using RFID technology to optimise
security of confidential records.
I am indebted to all of the staff within the NIGALA
for their continuing commitment and dedication
to the work of the Agency. This report would not
be complete without reference to the fact that Mr
Jim Currie departed in October 2011 after eight
years as Chair of the NIGALA Board. I would wish
to express my appreciation for his support and
guidance throughout all of those years. I am pleased
to welcome Mr Bernard Mitchell as the new Chair
of the NIGALA Board and look forward to working
with him over the period of his term of office. The
Chair and the non-executive directors bring a wealth
of experience to the Agency helping to ensure
sound governance. Finally, I would wish to express
my appreciation for the help and support of our
sponsoring department, the DHSSPS.

___________________________
R H Williamson, Executive Director
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NIGALA’s Work
Mission Statement

To advise the courts of children’s
wishes and feelings and to
independently represent and
safeguard the interests of children
in specified public law and adoption
proceedings in Northern Ireland.
The Mission Statement expresses the core principles enshrined in
Articles 3 and 60 of the Children (NI) Order 1995
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Strategic Objectives
1. To provide a high quality service to the courts and to the children who are the subjects of specified
public law proceedings under the Children (NI) Order 1995 and who are the subjects of proceedings
under the Adoption (NI) Order 1987.
2. To ensure the independent representation of the wishes and feelings of the child who is the subject
of specified public law proceedings or adoption proceedings and also to ensure the safeguarding and
promotion of the child’s wishes and best interests.
3. To regularly seek the views of users of the service and key stakeholders to improve standards of
practice and inform service development.
4. To improve service provision by providing the opportunity for continuous professional development
and the enhancement of knowledge and skills for all staff members.
5. To ensure the efficient and effective management of the service in compliance with the principles of
controls assurance.
6. To ensure regularity1 and propriety2 in the stewardship of public funds.
7. To maintain a quality assurance framework based on DHSSPS core standards.

NIGALA Values and Principles
Values
NIGALA is committed to the following five core values3:•  Human
•

Social Justice

•  Service
•

Dignity and Worth			
to Humanity			

Integrity

•  Competence
Our practice should both promote respect for human dignity and promote social justice through service
to humanity, integrity and competence.

1.

Regularity is the requirement for all items of expenditure and receipts to be dealt with in accordance with the legislation authorising them, any
applicable delegated authority and the Guidance on Managing Public Money NI.

2.

Propriety is the requirement that expenditure and receipts should be dealt with in accordance with Parliament’s intentions and the principles of
Parliamentary control, including the conventions agreed with Parliament (and in particular the Public Accounts Committee).

3.

In line with the basic values of the British Association of Social Workers

12
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Principles
Paramountcy of the Child

Empowerment

The interests of children and young
people are paramount

Children and young people are enabled
and supported to achieve their potential in
terms of emotional and social well-being.
Staff are supported and developed to
realise their ability and potential.

Dignity and Respect
The uniqueness and intrinsic value of
the individual is acknowledged and each
person is treated with respect and this is
reflected in practice.

Independence
Children and young people have as much
control as possible over their lives whilst
being protected against unreasonable
risks.

Rights
In the context of services delivered to
them, the individual and human rights of
children and young people are promoted
and safeguarded.

Equality and Diversity
Children and young people and
staff are treated equally and their
background and culture valued and
respected.

Privacy
Children and young people are protected
from unnecessary intrusion into their
affairs and there is a balance between the
consideration of the individual’s safety,
the safety of others and the Agency’s
responsibilities.

Confidentiality
Information about children and young
people and staff is managed appropriately
and everyone involved in the service
respects confidential matters.

Safety
Every effort is made to keep children and
young people, staff and others as safe
as possible and free from exploitation,
neglect and abuse.

Participation
The views and experiences of service
users, stakeholders and staff are taken into
account in the planning, delivery, evaluation
and review of services.

Effectiveness
Staff are suitably qualified and skilled,
regularly supervised and adequately
trained to provide an effective service.

Quality
Systems are in place to provide assurance
on standards and enable continuous
quality improvement across the
organisation.
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Performance Indices 2011/12
Outcome
2011-12

Performance Area

Definitions

KPI 1
Individual Caseload

An average of 10 ‘live’ cases to be carried at 10.74
any point in time per whole time equivalent
Target Achieved
(wte) guardian ad litem to be achieved as a
workload figure in 2011-12

KPI 2
Productivity

23.43
An annual average of 20 cases carried for
the total 12 month period on the workload of Target Achieved
each wte gal.

KPI 3
Allocation of Public Law
Cases

a) 80% of cases to be allocated to guardians 39%
Target Not Achieved
within 8 days from date of court
appointment4
b) 80% of cases to be allocated to guardians 49%
by first hearing from date of court
Target Not Achieved
appointment

4.
5.

KPI 4
Allocation of Adoption
Cases

80% of cases to be allocated to guardians
86%
within 5 days from date of court appointment Target Achieved

KPI 5
Childrens’ Feedback

90% of children (8yrs+) surveyed by means 63%
of paper questionnaire or Viewpoint to give a Target Not Achieved5
satisfaction rating of ‘good’ or ‘excellent’
87% felt listened to

KPI 6
Judicial Feedback

90% of the judiciary surveyed to give a
satisfaction rating of ‘good’ or ‘excellent’

KP1 7
Solicitors’ Feedback

95% of accredited solicitors surveyed to give 95%
a satisfaction rating of ‘good’ or ‘excellent’.
Target Achieved

KPI 8
Corporate

100% appraisals under Agenda for Change
completed for all eligible staff

90%
Target Achieved

100%

In 66% of all public law proceedings allocated the court gave NIGALA less than the 8 days for guardian ad litem appointment before first
hearing. This figure was also significantly impacted by the 14% increase in public law proceedings during 2011/12
Please refer to page 27 for a detailed analysis.
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Focus on Public Law Proceedings
Guardians ad litem are appointed by the courts in specified public law proceedings under the Children
(NI) Order 1995. Over the past twelve months there has been a further increase in the number of public
law appointments6 rising by 10% from 440 to 483 compared with the same period last year. This increase
reflects a continuing upward trend in appointments of guardians ad litem by the courts resulting in an
overall increase of 38% in public law appointments in the last five years. This overall percentage increase
in the number of public law proceedings over a five year period continues to be driven by the number
of appointments in care proceedings which category alone shows a 102% increase in the number of
appointments from the courts.
Fig 1: Trend in Guardian Ad Litem Appointments in Public Law 2007/8 – 2011/12

No. of Children

No. of Applications

781
483

2011/12

695
440

2010/11

627
380

2009/10

560
2008/09

340
591

2007/08

350

There was also an increase in the number of children represented in the twelve months ending 31st
March 2012 from 695 in 2010/11 to 781, an increase of 12%. Taking the period since 2007/08 this
additional rise represents a percentage increase of 33% in the numbers of children subject to public law
appointments.

6.

Appointment of a guardian ad litem may involve two or more children of a sibling group
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Care Proceedings
Care proceedings continue to represent the single most substantive public law application which
comes before the courts, both in numbers of applications and potential for life changing impact on
the subject child. Such applications continue to rise. In addition to the 30% increase in the number of
care applications during the course of 2010/11, in the past twelve months we witnessed a further and
significant increase in the number of care applications by 72 (26%).
There was a corresponding increase in the number of children subject to care proceedings in the period
2011/12 increasing by 28% from 451 to 583, with a significant rise in the number of children in the 1-5
age group by 35% over the previous year.
Fig 2: Trend in Guardian Ad Litem Appointments in Care Proceedings 2007/8 – 2011/12

583
451
385
337

354
351
279

176

2007/2008

192

2008/2009

No. Of Appointments
No. Of Children

214

2009/2010

2010/2011

2011/2012

The continued increase in the number of care applications is a national trend and can be tracked to the
aftermath of the baby Peter Connolly Serious Case Review in 2008. This unprecedented increase in the
number of care applications in the wake of Peter Connelly’s death, aged 17 months, suggests a national shift
in social work thresholds.
For children perceived to be at ‘risk’ of significant harm social workers are placing a greater emphasis on
reducing the likelihood of harmful outcomes by recourse to a court order. The growth in the number of care
applications can therefore be attributed to Children’s Services being more prepared to intervene to protect
children from abuse and associated problems related to issues such as domestic violence, mental health,
drug and alcohol abuse.
Support for this conclusion may be derived from the decrease in the number of applications to discharge
or vary court orders, which reduced by almost 50% in the period ending the 31st March 2012 and the
increase in the number of Secure Accommodation applications which rose by 32%.
Conversely, there has been a decrease in the number of Emergency Protection Orders (EPO) by 33%, 43
applications in 2010/11 compared with 297 for this financial year. It is recognised, however, that NIGALA’s
EPO figure is the number of cases where guardians have been appointed and may not reflect the total
number of EPOs granted by the courts.
7

Table 2C on page 66 outlines the number of EPO cases where guardians were appointed, but which later when on to become care
applications. This figure, together with the two EPO/Extn of EPO cases shown on Table 2A make up the total of EPO cases where a
guardian ad litem was appointed during 2011/12.
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Duration of Care Proceedings
A central tenet of the Children (NI) Order 1995 is the no delay principle and a duty in law for all
practitioners in family courts to have regard for the principle that any delay in determining outcomes
for children is likely to prejudice the welfare of the child. Courts must be assured that any delay in
determining public law proceedings is purposeful and for an agreed outcome based on the best interests
of the child.
To this end the Guide to Case Management was introduced in October 2009, a year (2009/10) which
witnessed a significant increase in the duration of care proceedings with an average of 403 days to
complete a case, well in excess of a year.
Fig 3: Trend in The Average Duration of Care Proceedings 2007/8 – 2011/12

410

403

400
390

383
383

380
Days

377

370
367

360
350
340
2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

A cautious welcome was given to the news, therefore, that in the period ending the 31st March 2011
the average duration for care proceedings decreased from 403 to 377 days, a reduction of 6% over the
previous year. In the twelve months ending the 31st March 2012, despite a third year into the revised
case management guidance, the average duration figure for care proceedings continues to remain above
twelve months.
This 2% increase in the average number of days taken to complete care cases should be seen in the
context of a 26% rise in the number of care applications for the same period. It should be emphasised
that the duration figure is an average for all three tiers of court including the more complex cases heard
at the higher levels. It also conceals a considerable variation.
Serious concerns exist about delay, a fact which was given specific mention in the Access to Justice
Review (Northern Ireland) published in August 2011 and the Family Justice Review (England and Wales)
published in November 2011. In both Reviews, a broad consensus was reached regarding the challenges
facing the family justice system in the respective jurisdictions. It remains to be seen whether legislative
change, with the object of limiting duration to six months as proposed in England, is the solution.
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Case Study
Managing Complexity and Risk with Best Interests
Trust application for 20 month old child having sustained non-accidental injuries while in the care of
his parents. On medical examination the doctor concluded that the injuries, particularly the damage to
the mouth was ‘very suspicious of non accidental injury’. The parents failed to adequately explain how
the injuries occurred. Because there was a pool of potential perpetrators, no actual individual was
identified and criminal proceedings concluded without prosecution. As part of his analysis, the guardian
recommended to court a resolutions approach in conjunction with a risk management programme
of educative and parenting work. The parents evidenced both insight and motivation and following
a thorough and comprehensive assessment, rehabilitation commenced in November 2011 and was
achieved by March 2012. For the child permanence within the family was achieved demonstrating the
importance, in this case, of successfully balancing risk with a best interests outcome.

Secure Accommodation Orders
The use of secure accommodation involves the restriction of liberty of children and young people and,
because many young people have such extreme and often complex needs accompanied by risk taking
and challenging behaviours, the division between the respective systems of care, juvenile justice and
mental health often merge and overlap. It is the nature and extent of particular behaviours which often
determine, not only where the young person is placed, but also the nature of the service provided.
Decision making for ‘looked after children’ is often challenging but, for those children with complex mental
health and emotional needs, the process can be further complicated.
It is noted that there are no secure or forensic hospitals for adolescents in Northern Ireland, a point
which was given prominence in the case of a 17 year old male (JR49 v DOH, May 2011) who was the
subject of an application to transfer him to a specialist mental health secure unit in England.
In his judgement, Mr Justice Treacy highlighted the need for a ‘much more rigorous and inquisitorial
exercise’ to take place when considering the transfer of a child from this jurisdiction to a secure unit in
England, and went further –
‘As we know a decision to transfer a patient to England against his family’s wishes and feelings and his
own ascertainable wishes is a very grave decision which demands the best informed and most anxious
scrutiny’.
It is because restricting the liberty of young people is such a serious step and one taken only as a last
resort, that the importance of effective planning based on the needs of the child or young person to
devise a safe exit strategy and/or care plan, cannot be over emphasised.
Following a decrease in the number of court requests for Secure Accommodation Orders in 2010/11
by a significant 33%, this year we have seen this figure rise by the same percentage figure from 37 to 49
applications.

18
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It should be noted that a number of repeat applications can be made in respect of the same young
person and in some cases those aged 16 years or older also become subject of a Care Order application
when deemed to meet the criteria for secure accommodation.

Duration of Secure Accommodation Order Proceedings
There was a marginal decrease in the average duration of proceedings from 68 to 61 days. The stringent
criteria for the granting of Secure Accommodation Orders and the implications of the restriction of a
young person’s liberty largely regulate both the number and duration of proceedings.

Article 56 (1) and other Applications
An Article 56 investigation may be requested by a court in Article 8, Residence and Contact
disputes and Education Supervision cases. A court directs an Article 56 investigation when the
level of concern in respect of a child’s welfare is such that it may warrant the granting of either a
Supervision or Care Order. In such cases the relevant Health Care Trust is directed to undertake an
investigation and a guardian is appointed on direction of the court.

In 2011/12 we witnessed a 33% decrease on the preceding year in the number of appointments
directed, falling from 18 to 12 cases involving 17 children. The decrease in the number of Article
56 investigations may reflect amendments in Children Order Advisory Committee (COAC) Best
Practice Guidance (2010/11) relating to the appointments of guardians in which a question arises
with respect to the welfare of the child in private law proceedings.

There was also a decrease in the number of applications with regard to Article 58, Discharge or
Variation of Care/Supervision Orders, by 22 over the preceding year, that is, 24 as opposed to 46
involving 37 children as opposed to 78 children (53%).

There was a slight reduction in the number of Article 53 Contact applications over the preceding
year from 27 to 21, involving 39 children as opposed to 49.

The number of appointments of guardians in Supervision Order proceedings remains very low.
There were eight appointments involving 15 children compared with five appointments for 12
children for 2010/11.
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Originating Health and Social Care Trusts (HSCTs)
The Belfast and Western Trusts had marked increases in public law applications compared with the
preceding year. Most markedly the Belfast Trust had an increase of 32 cases (33%) and while the
Western Trust recorded 11 additional cases (20%), it had the lowest number of appointments overall.
The Northern Trust had 92 cases compared with 107 cases in the preceding year and constituted the
only decrease in figures for this year.
Fig 4: Trend in Guardian ad Litem Appointments in Public Law Applications from Originating HSC Trusts 2007/8 – 2011/12
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2009/10
2008/09
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The Southern and South Eastern Trusts remained relatively consistent in respect of the number of cases
compared with the preceding year. There was an increase of seven cases in the Southern Trust (8%) with
the South Eastern Trust increasing by eight (9%).

Case Study
Outcomes for Children
A Guardian was appointed in a care order application for a 2 year old child. Both parents were known
to social services due to long standing alcohol and substance abuse. In the early stages of proceedings
there was little basis for optimism about the prospect of rehabilitation. In the course of work with her
counsellor the mother began to demonstrate some degree of insight. There was a level of disagreement
between experts and, on the guardian’s recommendation, the court revised the timetable for additional
work to be completed. The guardian effectively represented the child’s best interests by affording
the court clarity on the progress made by the mother balanced against the impact on the child of the
mother’s previous history. The child was rehabilitated but under the auspices of a care order.

20
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Focus on
Adoption Proceedings
The Adoption (NI) Order 1987 governs adoption practice, but after a quarter of a century it is
evident that a legislative revision is now overdue. By way of contrast, in England and Wales the
Adoption and Children Act 2002 harmonised adoption and children’s legislation. The legislation
incorporated additional options such as Placement Orders and Special Guardianship which are
more reflective of current developments in adoption practice.
The Narey report (July 2011) “Our Blueprint for Britain’s Lost Children” was commissioned by the
Westminster Government with a view to a radical reform of the adoption system given concerns
about both the reduction in the numbers and the increased timescales for securing adoption for
children in the care system. More recently, the Government has published “An Action Plan for
Adoption: Tackling Delay” which identifies what the Government intends to do to accelerate the
whole adoption process so that more children benefit from adoption and within shorter timescales.
Unfortunately it is unlikely that revised legislation in Northern Ireland will be enacted before 2013.
The role of the guardian in adoption proceedings, which is prescribed by the Adoption (NI)
Order 1987, defines the welfare of the child as the first rather than the paramount consideration.
Guardians are appointed in a diverse range of cases under the legislation, including ‘Freeing’
proceedings which typically involve ‘looked after children’ in respect of whom the HSC Trust
applies to the court to dispense with the birth parent’s consent to adoption; ‘placement adoption’
applications from those who have been approved to adopt and had a child placed for adoption;
‘step-parent adoption’ where the birth parent and step-parent apply to adopt the child; and intercountry adoption which relates to all applications to adopt children who originate from outside the
jurisdiction.
In 2011/12 appointments of guardians in adoption cases accounted for 23% of the workload
representing a small increase compared to 2010/11 when the figure was 20%.
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Adoption Trends
There were 63 placement adoption applications in 2011/12 involving 80 children which represents a
significant increase when compared with 2010/11 (44 cases, 52 children), both in respect of the number
of cases and children. This represents the highest number of applications in the last five years. There
was also a notable increase in the number of freeing applications in 2011/12 (49 cases in respect of 65
children compared with 33 cases relating to 44 children in the preceding year).
Fig 5: Trend in the Number of Applications in Adoption Proceedings between 2007/8 – 2011/12

2007/08

63

62

43 43 44

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

49
37 38 35
28
20 21

2 2 2
Placement

Step-parent

6

11 9
3

Relative

6
3 4

Intercountry

33
25 27

1 0 3 1 0
Freeing with Consent

Freeing without
Consent

Inter-country adoption applications increased from 4 to 6 in 2011/12. The costs associated with pursuing
inter-country adoption and the availability of children from designated countries may impact on the
number of adopters pursuing this option.
The children involved in intercountry adoption applications made in 2011/12 came from the following countries:-

Country Flag

Originating Country

Number of Cases

Kosovo

1

Kazakhstan

2

Russia

1

Ethiopia

1

Serbia

1

22
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Step-parent adoption applications remained on a similar level to 2010/11 with 21 applications compared
with 20 the previous year.

Adoptions by HSC Trust Area
Comparison of adoption activity across the five HSC Trusts shows an overall increase in all the Trusts
except for the South Eastern Trust where activity remained static at 21 cases. The most significant
variation was in the Belfast Trust which had an almost 50% increase in cases from 43 applications in
2011/12 compared with 22 applications in the preceding year. The Southern Trust had 28 applications,
representing an increase of six on 2010/11, while the Western Trust had 21 cases, an increase of five
compared with 2010/11. The Northern Trust had an increase of two cases to 28 in 2011/12.
A high number of adoption applications continue to be lodged at the level of the High Court ie 52 cases,
however, a considerable number was also lodged at county court level with 44 cases in Belfast, 24 cases
in Craigavon and single figures in remaining county courts (See Table 4 Appendix I).

Duration of Proceedings
Timescales for completion of proceedings in respect of placement, step-parent and inter-country adoptions
showed a reduction in 2011/12 compared with 2010/11 which is to be welcomed in view of the negative
impact of delay in securing permanency for some of the most vulnerable children in society in respect of whom
the courts adjudicate.
The duration of freeing proceedings decreased by almost eight weeks ie 240 days. By contrast there was a
stark increase in the duration of freeing consolidated proceedings (joining freeing to ongoing care proceedings)
from an average of 497 days in 2010/11 to 704 in 2011/12. While care cases concluded on average at
383 days, stand alone freeing cases took an average of 240 days to complete. The small number of freeing
consolidated cases i.e. seven, and anecdotal evidence in respect of significant delay between concluding care
proceedings and lodging freeing proceedings need to be considered when addressing the relative merits of
one pathway as opposed to the other. The draconian nature of securing a freeing order thereby extinguishing
the parent’s parental responsibility understandably warrants judicial scrutiny but begs the question whether
the timescales are in keeping with the needs and interest of the children involved. Northern Ireland’s practice
remains constrained by the 1987 adoption legislation which predates the Children (NI) Order 1995.
Of the 80 children subject of placement adoption applications only two were under a year old, 52 were aged
1-5 and 24 were in the 5-10 age range. The age profile of children who are the subject of placement adoption
applications bears testament to the protracted decision making processes that precede an adoption order.
Undoubtedly a number of these children have come into the system late and experienced a number of
placement moves prior to being placed with their adoptive parents.

Case Study
Balancing Children’s Best Interests and Parent’s Rights
6 year old child freed for adoption. Mother lodges an appeal which is upheld on the grounds of
an unfair hearing under Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1995. Updated expert opinion sought
despite no change in mother’s circumstances and her ongoing failure to co-operate with the Trust.
Freeing Order confirmed. Issues raised for the child – prolonged uncertainty in respect of their
future, delay in progressing adoption as the appeal was not determined for 6 months.
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Feedback from
Children and Young
During 2011/12 we expanded our range of methods available to children and young people to provide
feedback and comments by giving them the opportunity to provide direct online feedback through the
medium of an A-CASI programme [audio computer assisted self interviewing].
’Viewpoint interactive’ is an audio A-CASI application specially developed for use by children and young
people. It makes use of multimedia with graphics, speech, interactivity and animated assistants making
it accessible to children and young people across a range of ages and abilities. This was undertaken
in recognition of the need to provide a range of options for children and young people in keeping with
differing preferences and the merits of varying methods of feedback.
This resource is in addition to the option for children and young people of completing a short paper
questionnaire or to undertake a face to face dialogue with a representative from Voice of Young People
in Care (VOYPIC) on behalf of NIGALA. The primary aim of providing a range of feedback options is to
optimise the ability of the Agency to evaluate the impact of our service on the lives of children who have
been represented by a guardian in court proceedings.
We also wished to see an increase in the number of children and young people who feel enabled to let us
know their views about the service at the same time always respecting their right not to do so, especially
if they have just been through long and sometimes difficult proceedings.
The feedback responses which follow encompass the common questions and themes which are
contained in all feedback methodologies utilised by NIGALA.
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Profile of the Children and Young People Who Provided Feedback
There were 27 respondents who completed an interview with a VOYPIC representative or an online
questionnaire. A further 23 completed a short paper questionnaire. Of the cumulative total of 49
respondents, 26 were female and 23 were male.
The shorter paper questionnaire does not provide information about the nature of proceedings in which
the children and young people were involved. Data available, however, from the VOYPIC interview and
online questionnaire indicates that:• 77% were subject of care order applications;
• 15% were subject of applications for secure accommodation and the remaining
• 8% were subject of adoption proceedings.

Participation of Young People in the Decision Making Processes
• 96% of the respondents felt guardians had sought their feelings about
what was being decided in court and
• 87% experienced the guardian as really listening to them.
• 13 (49%) of respondents had wanted to attend court with 14 (51%) actually attending.
• 84% of those who were in attendance felt the guardian had told the court what they 		
(the young person) wanted and also exactly how they felt.
• Of those 14 young people who did attend court 8 met with the judge separately and 		
while the majority indicated that they relied on their solicitor, 6 young people said they 		
“spoke up for themselves”.
We asked those young people who chose to attend court to let us know how the experience of
attendance made them feel. In order to capture the range of possible emotions associated with this
experience young people could select a number of options to illustrate their feelings.
The predominant emotion identified by this small group of respondents was “informed” 36% followed in
equal parts 29% as “nervous” and “happy”, 21% highlighted a sense of being “confident”. (see figure 6)
It is very positive to note that no one identified other available options such as “sad”, “scared” or “intimidated”.
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Fig 6 How young people felt when they attended court

No. of
Children

No. of
Children

% Of
Sample

Feeling

1

4

16.67%

Nervous

2

2

8.33%

Comfortable

3

3

12.50%

Confident

4

1

4.17%

Confused

5

5

20.83%

Informed

6

2

8.33%

Formal

7

4

16.67%

Happy

8

1

4.17%

Excited

9

2

8.33%

Something else. (type your answer in the notepad)

We further explored with young people, based on their experience of going to court, whether or not
they would advise other young people like themselves to attend and found that 79% would recommend
attendance.
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Comments about the perceived value of direct participation included the following:
“So you can speak for yourself”
“Because the judge gave me a football”
“Because you can speak to the judge and tell them what you think”
“To get their points across”
“Yes so that they can see what everyone says about you and have your point of view listened to”
“To express how you feel about what is going on”
“Yes, because you get to see what is happening for yourself rather than being told by someone else”
“To speak for themselves rather than someone else speaking”

Among those who indicated they did not attend court the reasons varied from a clear-cut decision not
to, such as
“It was scary”
“I did not want to attend court”
“I wasn’t asked to but if I was I would not have went to court. It is not a place for young people”.
“Just didn’t want to go”

In some instances, given the practicalities of daily life, respondents made some decisions which reflected
their own preferences and feelings, thus,
“I was allowed to but I was at a summer scheme”
“Because I was at school. I did want to see my mum”
“Cause my real dad was there”

However, a few respondents indicated that they had wished to attend court but it was not considered
appropriate, for example,
“I did want to attend court but I think the judge said I was too young”
“I only met the judge once but I badly (sic) asked a lot of times if I could attend but he refused”
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Satisfaction Rating for the Service
Each feedback facility asks the common question of “Overall how happy were you with your guardian?”
and the cumulative total across all mediums of feedback was 63%
An inherent element of the guardian ad litem role is the requirement to act in the best interests of
the child/young person which may, on occasion be contrary to the wishes of the child. Inevitably this
will have an impact on the perceived satisfaction levels of young people. This is notable when crossreferenced with responses to whether the young person and guardian agreed on ‘what should happen
next’ or diverged. [The satisfaction rating utilised is 60 or above on a sliding scale of 0-100.]
65% of those involved in care proceedings indicated a perceived satisfaction level of 80 or above.
75% of respondents in care order applications indicated agreement between themselves and the views of
the guardian with the remaining 25% indicating some degree of divergence between their aspirations and
the guardian’s view of what should happen next.
50% involved in secure accommodation also indicated a satisfaction level of 80 or above.
50% of respondents involved in secure accommodation were in agreement with the views of the
guardian, but the remaining 50% diverged from their guardian.
100% of those involved in adoption proceedings indicated a satisfaction rating of 90 or above.
100% of those involved in adoption proceedings indicated agreement between their views and those of
the guardians.
A similar theme occurs with 38% of respondents advising that the court did not decide what they wanted it to.
Further to this when asked if ‘even if the court did not decide what you wanted, did you have a say in the
decision they made’ 19% [5 respondents] felt they did not have. This sub group of respondents were, not
surprisingly, also fully represented amongst those who expressed dissatisfaction with the plans made for them.
The lower overall satisfaction rating is difficult to understand especially when 96% of children indicated
that guardians had sought their feelings and 87% felt that the guardians really listened to them. There
was however an issue this year as to how interviewers uniformly recorded the level of satisfaction. It is a
matter which will be standardised in 2012/13.
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Stakeholder Feedback
Evaluation of the Guardian ad Litem service by the Judiciary
Feedback from 11 members of the judiciary indicated the following:

100% found guardians,
‘always’ or ‘often’ represent
the child’s wishes and
feelings

100% found the standard of
guardian reports to be either
excellent or good

Feedback
100% felt the Guardians
demonstrated independence
from all parties

100% of respondents
found the guardian’s
oral evidence to be
a) clear and
b) well substantiated

100% gave an overall
assessment of the GAL service
as either ‘excellent’ or ‘good’
64% of respondents felt
guardians ‘always’ or ‘often’
took a role in setting the
court timetable. One
respondent indicating a
preference for judicial
management of the setting
the court timetabling

Written comments from a number of respondents referenced the perceived value (to them) in the
appointment of a guardian at the earliest point in the case which very regrettably has not always been
possible due to the high and continuously increasing referral rates. Another respondent noted that ‘the
Agency provides an excellent service once a guardian is appointed’ but indicated grave concern about
the delay in the Agency being in a position to allocate a guardian on appointment by the court.
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Evaluation of Guardian ad Litem
service by Children’s Panel Solicitors
77 completed questionnaires were returned by solicitors:

100% of solicitors rated the quality of the guardian service as

•
		

excellent or good

•

100% of those who responded advised that guardians either

•

99%

•

100% of respondents felt that guardians reflected the wishes

•

100% of the respondents indicated that guardians promote the

•

99%

preserved their independence at all times or the majority
of the time during proceedings

considered guardians to be credible witnesses

and feelings of the children ‘at all times’ or ‘the majority
of the time’.

best interests of the children ‘at all times’ or ‘the majority
of the time’

of solicitors rated the level of analysis in the guardians’
reports as excellent or good

99%

•
felt that guardians advised the courts on timetabling
			‘at all times’ or ‘the majority of the time’
•

100% noted that guardians advised the court on the 			

requirement for expert witness ‘at all times’ or ‘the 		
majority of the time’
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Section 4
Our Workforce
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Our Workforce
Staffing
Management

Supporting New Ways of Working

NIGALA has a flat management structure with
3 Assistant Directors, a Quality Assurance and
Training Manager and a Corporate Services
Manager accountable to the Executive Director.
The Assistant Directors are social work qualified
and undertake a number of key functions such
as allocation of work, supervision and appraisal.
The Quality Assurance and Training Manager has
responsibility for training, development and quality
assurance for each department within NIGALA.
The Corporate Services Manager has responsibility
for all corporate functions such as finance, human
resources, estates, information and procurement.
All managers have functional responsibilities which
involve links with relevant external organisations.

Guardians ad litem spend the majority of their time
out of the office either attending court or meeting
directly with children, their parents/carers and other
parties. The Agency has accordingly promoted
the concept of ‘remote working’ and, in 2011/12, 2
additional guardians opted for this mode of working
making a total of 10 remote working staff. They
have been equipped with a laptop, blackberry and
digital pen to enable the completion of work while
on the move. To this end NIGALA has pursued its
‘shared workplace’ strategy and further meeting
room areas within head office have now been
developed to support business need.

Guardians ad Litem
At present the NIGALA has a guardian ad litem
compliment of 41 employed staff (full time and part
time). NIGALA also contracts the service out to
9 self employed social work qualified individuals
during times of increased court appointments. The
NIGALA is a ‘managed service’ with guardians
safeguarding and promoting the interests of children
by the provision of an independent social work
investigation and ensuring representation of the
children’s views and presenting recommendations
to the court.

Communicating and
Consulting with Staff
The management structure within NIGALA serves
to maximise the accessibility of managers and
facilitates the exchange of communication with
guardians which, in turn, promotes the Agency’s
capacity to be responsive. Communication/
consultation is also facilitated on a formal basis by
a) a quarterly staff meeting led by managers
ensuring that all staff are consulted on relevant
policies, corporate plans, professional practice
and the latest initiatives

Corporate Services

b) a Joint Consultative Committee with the Trade
Union NIPSA which is convened as necessary
to consult on new and revised policies.

Our Business Support staff play a key role in
the delivery of our service. Under the current
organisational structure we have developed two
levels of business support which offer a clear career
progression for staff and an enhanced service in the
support of the guardians ad litem.

An additional method of communication within the
Agency is a six monthly internal news bulletin which
highlights developments within NIGALA, training
and development opportunities, staff social activities
as well as external initiatives in social care and family
justice. It is available electronically and in hard copy.
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Performance Management
Under the ‘Agenda for Change’ Knowledge & Skills
Framework, managers formally provide supervision
for guardians on a 3 monthly basis and appraisals
take place annually. The Framework provides tools
to assess ongoing practice and requires records of
supervision and appraisal to be collated and agreed
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between appraiser and appraisee. This has allowed
the Agency to ensure that standards of practice
and performance are regularly reviewed and
linked to the NIGALA corporate and operational
objectives. During 2011/12 NIGALA has developed
a new draft appraisal scheme for all staff and
following a period of consultation will be ratified by
the Board in 2012.

Health, Safety and Wellbeing
The Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee
which reports to the senior management team
has the responsibility to promote measures which
ensure the health and safety at work of all staff.
The following initiatives were undertaken in-year
• a review of the Health and Safety Committee
Terms of Reference
•

the development of a safety alert checklist for
all staff and the review of personal alarms

•

launch of e-training for all staff on Fire Safety

•

completion of annual office risk assessments
and reporting to Health Estates Investment
Group (HEIG)

•

agreement of the new key holder policy for
NIGALA offices

•

the completion of health and safety bulletins
addressing First Aid, Health and Safety
training, Remote Working and Workplace
Stress.

A comprehensive review of health and safety
compliance throughout the Agency has been
completed by our qualified risk assessors and
actions identified have been included in our risk
management action plan.
NIGALA has access to an occupational health
service. In addition the Agency continues to
fund and operate a programme of employee
assistance and confidential counselling through
the CareCall organisation.

Our Buildings
In 2011/12 the leases on the offices at Centre
House in Belfast and Spencer House in
Londonderry were renewed following a review.
The new leases have been taken for a further four
years ending in August 2015.
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Equality
The NIGALA’s revised equality scheme was
approved by the Equality Commission on 14th
September 2011. The emphasis within the
revised scheme has moved from the process of
implementing Section 75 to evidencing outcomes
for those affected by policies and services.
NIGALA continues to benefit greatly from
participating in the consortium of small HSC
Agencies under the auspices of the Business
Services Organisation (BSO) Equality Unit in
progressing the equality agenda. The pooling of
resources, shared learning and the co-ordination
of activities has greatly assisted in the development
of a well informed, creative approach to
mainstreaming equality.

The Agency avails of the expertise of the Unit’s
staff and associated benefits from regional
representation.
The consortium meets on a quarterly basis to
discuss legislative/policy updates and practice
developments. Briefing papers are circulated to
ensure that key developments and associated
implications are disseminated within the respective
organisations.
The NIGALA Equality Scheme aligns and
streamlines the equality agenda with Social Care
Governance and Personal and Public Involvement
consultation and engagement thereby creating
greater corporate ownership.

Quality Assurance
NIGALA works hard to maintain and improve
standards both in terms of the quality of the
service delivered to children and the courts
and of what staff may expect of a supportive
organisation which promotes individual learning
and development needs.
High aspirations in terms of service delivery
should be the norm in all public sector
organisations but become a particular challenge
in times of financial stringency. NIGALA staff
have been impacted significantly by high case
load demands over recent years without
significant resource increase yet have always
striven to maintain a high standard of service.
The Agency has continued to develop its
two-tier supervision and appraisal process
whereby each member of staff, guardian and
administration, meet with the Quality Assurance
and Training Manager to review their learning
and development needs. The purpose of this
appraisal is to re-evaluate previous learning and
draw up a learning and development plan for the
year ahead.
The Quality Assurance and Training Manager
also audits each closed file to ensure that the
Agency’s Professional Standards with regard

to matters such as children’s feedback, the
right to make a complaint, report formats and
recording are being met. Guardians are also
made accountable for the standard of their work
through the supervisory and appraisal processes.
NIGALA also recognises the importance of
independent quality assurance of the Investors in
People award. It has held this award since 2006
and having gained the Bronze standard in 2009, is
due review once again in 2012.
This review will take place in early July 2012 and
the quality assurance agenda throughout the
last year in particular has focused on preparing
for the review and in taking action on the
recommendations of the previous review.
In exposing ourselves to this independent
verification whereby a third of the staff are
randomly selected for interview and asked
to give their anonymous views on how the
organisation performs and how they are valued,
the Agency demonstrates its commitment
to openness, striving to do things better and
assuring stakeholders and the public that it takes
quality seriously.
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Staff Development
Guardians ad Litem
Every year a series of internal training events is
run for guardians ad litem, largely driven by the
need to be kept up to date with developments
in child protection, family support and adoption.
Over the past 12 months there has been a wide
range of events including input from Jacqui
Montgomery-Devlin & Joanne McKinney on
the Barnardos Safe Choices Project; Dion
McGuigan from the Southern HSC Trust and
Cathy Owens, guardian ad litem, on Lifestory
Work; Craig Wilkinson BAAF Cymru &
Catherine Mullin, BAAF NI, on Communicating
with and Developing Positive Relationships
with Adolescents; Geraldine O’Beirn, Queens
Medial Library on HONNI services; Cultural
Competence by Stephen Smyth from the
Craigavon Intercultural Programme and Sue
Macleod from Autism NI on Autistic Spectrum
Disorder.
Two major training events were held during the
course of the year. The first was our annual
‘Away Day’ which this year focused on the area
of risk assessment and how guardians assure
themselves that an appropriate risk assessment
has been carried out in cases with which they
are involved. NIGALA was pleased to welcome
Martin Calder to address staff on this issue.
Martin is a recognised expert in risk assessment
based in Manchester and well known for his
work both throughout the UK & Ireland and
further afield.

8

The Agency also commissioned In My Shoes8 to
provide training for all guardians on communicating
with children and young people. In My Shoes is a
computer software package that helps children
and vulnerable adults communicate about their
experiences including potentially distressing
events or relationships. It can be used in a wide
range of circumstances, including interviews with
children who may have been abused or who have
difficulties in expressing emotions, those who are
hard to engage or who have developmental delay
or other difficulties. The training was led by Phil
Jimmieson, Senior Experimental Officer, University
of Liverpool and David Glasgow, Forensic Clinical
Psychologist.

Phil Jimmieson (left) and David Glasgow (right)

As well as providing a programme of internal
training, guardians, managers and administration
staff attend numerous external seminars, workshops
and conferences throughout the year to ensure their
knowledge and skills are kept up to date.

Further information on ‘In My Shoes’ can be found on their website www.inmyshoes.org.uk/In_My_Shoes/Introduction.html
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Some examples are listed below:

Administration

•

University of Ulster – Risk Assessment,
Martin Calder

•

BAAF Seminar - Kinship Care: The Legal
Framework

The administration staff have been involved in
training throughout the year, both individually and
as a team.

•

BAAF Workshop - Step Parent Adoption:
Challenges and Good Practice

•

University of Ulster /Magee - AttachmentBased Practice in Social Care, Clark Baim

•

SLS seminar - The Challenge of Safe Care
Planning

•

BAAF Workshop - Supporting Positive
Contact in Adoption and Long Term
Placements

This year for the first time NIGALA was
delighted to offer Practice Development Days for
students on the social work degree courses at
both Queens University Belfast and the University
of Ulster, Magee. Both full day sessions proved
to be in high demand and were attended by more
than 20 students.

In September the administration team attended
the annual ‘Away Day’ which was held at Galgorm
Manor, Ballymena and Beth Gibb, trainer [Beth
Gibb Associates] spent the morning discussing
‘Stress Awareness’. This dealt with a number of
different areas such as communication, work/
life balance and time management and assisted
individuals be more aware of what impact stress
could have in their lives and how they might best
deal with it. The afternoon was spent on team
building. The day as a whole proved to be very
informative and as always helped to reinforce
team relationships.
A number of individual team members had
expressed an interest in furthering their minute
taking skills. This was facilitated when they were
given the opportunity to attend an Executive
Minute Taking course held at The Beeches
Management Centre. These skills have been
utilised when they have had the opportunity
to take the minutes at a number of corporate
meetings.
In March the team attended the Managing
Effective Relationships at Work which was
facilitated by a trainer from CIPFA. This proved
to be a very successful course, enjoyed greatly by
everyone.

Students from Queens University, Belfast at NIGALA
Practice Development Day January 2012

The Agency values its administration staff and
recognises the need to continually provide
meaningful training for them.
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Section 5
Corporate
Governance
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Corporate Governance
Board Members
Role of the Board
Board members have corporate responsibility for ensuring that NIGALA complies with statutory or
administrative requirements for the use of public funds and fulfils the aims and objectives set by the
Department and approved by the Minister and for promoting the efficient, economic and effective use of
staff and other resources. Board members are also required to:
•

ensure that high standards of corporate governance are observed at all times, including using
NIGALA’s Audit Committee to help the Board address the key financial and other risks facing
NIGALA

•

ensure that the Department is kept informed of any changes which are likely to impact on the
strategic direction of NIGALA or on the attainability of its targets and determine the steps needed
to deal with such changes

•

ensure that NIGALA receives and reviews regular financial information concerning its management
and is informed in a timely manner about any concerns about its activities which includes providing
positive assurance to the Department that appropriate action has been taken on such concerns

•

establish the overall strategic direction of the organisation within the policy and resources
framework agreed with the Department

•

ensure that NIGALA’s performance fully meets its aims and objectives as efficiently and effectively
as possible

•

ensure that the Board operates within the limits of its statutory authority and any delegated
authority agreed with the Department, and in accordance with any other conditions relating to the
use of public funds

•

ensure that, in reaching decisions, the Board has taken into account any guidance issued by the
Department and any other relevant organisations, such as the Equality Commission or the Human
Rights Commission

•

ensure that it consults on the development of significant new policies with the Department and
other relevant organisations as is considered appropriate

•

appoint, with the Child Care Policy Directorate, an Executive Director and, in consultation with the
Department, set remuneration terms for that post
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Board Members
The Board of NIGALA comprises a non-executive chairman, four non-executive members and an
executive director. Agency non-executive members are appointed through open competition by the
Minister. The terms of office for members are found in the NIGALA (Establishment and Constitution)
Order (NI) 1995. The Order provides that the members shall be appointed for a period of four years.
The Order also provides for the re-appointment of the members for such further period, not exceeding
four years, as the Department may determine. NIGALA currently has one vacant non-executive member
position.
MR BERNARD MITCHELL, CHAIR, lives
in Belfast, Co Antrim. On leaving Queens
University, Belfast. Mr Mitchell joined the NI
Health and Social Services general management
training scheme in September 1978 and remained
in continuous employment within the service until
his retirement in March 2011. He has worked
in all parts of Northern Ireland and has senior
management experience in hospital, community
and social care services including ten years as a
HSC Trust Chief Executive.
MR JIM CURRIE [Term as Agency Chair ended
October 2011], lives in Greenisland, Co Antrim.
A qualified social worker, he has had many years
experience in the field of family and childcare.
He worked for the Northern Ireland Probation
Service from 1969 until 1974, Eastern Health &
Social Services from 1974 to 1977 and for the
NSPCC from 1977 until 1998, when he retired as
Regional Director.
MRS ANN MCMAHON, NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR, lives in Derry. Mrs McMahon is a
qualified solicitor and is currently working as a
solicitor in Derry. She is a member of the Legal
Aid Commission Appeals Panel, the Regional
Advisory Committee for Ulster Television and
the Law Societies Non Contentious Business
Committee, Sub Communications Committee
and Human Rights and Professional Indemnity
Committee. She is also a Council Member of
the Law Society (NI). Ann is also a Director with
First Housing Aid and Support Services.

DR GREG KELLY, NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR, lives in Belfast. He is a qualified
social worker and has recently retired as a senior
lecturer in the School of Social Work, Queen’s
University. His research is in the area of adoption.
He was a Research Fellow at the Children’s
Research Centre at Trinity College Dublin where
he has been involved in a major study of intercountry adoption. He was a founder member of
the management committee of the Children’s
Law Centre and served as Chair and Treasurer
and is currently Chair of Barnardo’s Fostering
Panel and BAAF’s Northern Ireland Social Work
Advisory Committee.
MR ALISTAIR STEENSON, NONEXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, lives in Belfast. A
Chartered Accountant, Mr Steenson is a Principal
Consultant with the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). Prior to
working in CIPFA, Mr Steenson was a management
accountant in Down Lisburn HSS Trust.
MR RONNIE WILLIAMSON, EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR, worked as a social worker and
manager in Health and Social Services Trusts
throughout the 1970’s and 80’s concentrating on
family and childcare. Between 1990 and 1996
he worked as a commissioner of services with
the Southern Health and Social Services Board
and as professional adviser to the Area Child
Protection Committee. In 1996 he became the
first Executive Director of the Northern Ireland
Guardian Ad Litem Agency.
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Board Members’ Interests
The following interests are held by NIGALA Board members:
Name

Interest

Mr Bernard Mitchell

Member NI Advisory Board, Marie Curie Cancer Care
Non Executive Director, NI Transport Holding Company

Mr Jim Currie

Board Member Northern Ireland Youth Council
Director Northern Ireland Child Minding Association

Mr Alistair Steenson

No registered interests

Mrs Ann McMahon

Board Member First Housing Aid and Support Services (FHASS)
Member of the Law Society of Northern Ireland
Member of Ulster Television Regional Advisory Committee

Dr Greg Kelly

Chair of BAAF (Northern Ireland) Social Work Advisory Committee
Member of CRUSE Bereavement & Counselling Belfast Committee

Mr Ronnie Williamson

No registered interests

Board Committee Structure and Composition
The Board Committee Structures
The Board committees and accountability structure is shown in the diagram below
Programme for
Government

DHSSPS – Child Policy Unit
(Sponsoring Dept)

NIGALA Board

Audit Committee

Social Care
Governance
Committee

Remuneration
Comittee

Executive Team

Health and Safety
Committee

Risk Management
Committee

Information
Governance
Committee
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The Audit Committee Annual Report
This committee is responsible to the Board for reviewing the establishment and maintenance of an
effective system of integrated governance, internal control and risk management across the whole of the
organisation’s activities. In carrying out this work the committee will primarily utilise the work of Internal
Audit, External Audit and other assurance functions.
The committee met on the following dates in 2011/12:•

5th May 2011

•

30th June 2011

•

6th October 2011

•

1st March 2012

Its membership is as follows:
•

Mr Alistair Steenson (Chair)

•

Dr Greg Kelly

•

Mr Bernard Mitchell [commenced November 2011)

•

Mr Jim Currie [term ended October 2011]

NIGALA can confirm that Internal Audit, External Audit and representatives from the Business Services
Organisation (BSO) attend the Audit Committee. The Corporate Services Manager is the executive
officer responsible for servicing the Audit Committee.
The following activities were undertaken by the Audit Committee:
•

reviewed the three year Internal Audit plan

•

reviewed progress against issues raised by Internal Audit

•

considered the External Audit Plan

•

monitored progress on the NIGALA Risk and Governance Processes

•

reviewed the Statement of Internal Control.

•

completed a review of the committee’s effectiveness

•

ensured the NIGALA Accounts were prepared in accordance with the relevant statutory regulations

•

provided assurance to the NIGALA Board on the Risk Assurance Framework.
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The Remuneration Report
The Remuneration Committee Annual Report
The Remuneration Committee of the Northern Ireland Guardian Ad Litem Agency (NIGALA) is
responsible for reviewing the performance of the Executive Director, awarding performance related pay
and for determining fees payable to self employed guardians ad litem.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the determination of the remuneration of senior
managers and, in the case of NIGALA, this is confined to the Executive Director since the introduction
of Agenda for Change terms and conditions of service for all other members of staff. Guidance on
remuneration of senior managers is issued centrally by the DHSSPS.
Assessment of performance of the Executive Director is carried out annually by the Board Chairman
who makes a full report including a recommendation to the Remuneration Committee on the percentage
of Performance Related Pay (PRP) to be awarded. The assessment of performance is carried out
following annual appraisal and the review of performance against Executive Director objectives set at the
beginning of the financial year.

Remuneration Committee Membership
•
•
•
•
•

The Remuneration Committee membership is as follows:
Mr Bernard Mitchell – Committee Chairman (Board Chairman) effective from 1st November 2011
Mr Jim Currie – Committee Chairman (Board Chairman) resignation from 30th October 2011.
Mr Alistair Steenson (Non-Executive Board Member)
Mrs Ann McMahon (Non-Executive Board Member)

The NIGALA Executive Director, the Director Human Resources, BSO and other senior officers are also
asked to attend when required and as appropriate to provide advice and support to the Committee.
The committee met on the following dates in 2011/12:• 5th April 2011
• 1st November 2011
The following activities were undertaken by the Remuneration Committee:
•
•
•
•

Reviewed the Executive Directors Performance
Reviewed the self employed fee structure for 2011/12
Reviewed the committees terms of reference
Reviewed the NIGALA Remuneration Report
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Human Resources
The current number of guardians is 41 (salaried incorporating full time and part time employees) and 9
(self-employed) working across the Northern Ireland region (as at 31st March 2012).
The total number of staff currently employed within the Administration and Corporate Services team is
17 (as at 31st March 2012).
With staff levels remaining unchanged on the management team at six employees, NIGALA has a total
employed staff of 64.
As ever, the attrition rate within NIGALA remains low and this is reflected in the fact that only one
employed staff member left the Agency in 2011/12.
NIGALA is very proud of its low attrition and sickness rates as this demonstrates the
commitment of guardians to the children they represent and the success of the Agency in
providing whatever support and flexibility is necessary for its staff to deliver a quality service to
the courts. NIGALA has one of the lowest sickness absence rates across the HSC, currently
running at 2.68% for short term absence, and 0.34% for long-term sickness absence.

Policy Statement on Remuneration of the Executive Director
The overall objective of the senior manager remuneration arrangements is to achieve a fair, transparent,
affordable and defensible pay and grading system for all Senior Executives employed across the HSC.
The NIGALA Remuneration Committee adheres to this objective in ensuring a fair and equitable
remuneration for the NIGALA Executive Director. To achieve this objective the Committee is
accountable for the following:
•
•
•

recruiting, retaining and rewarding Executive Directors of the highest calibre
ensuring that pay and benefit arrangements for the Executive Director are compatible with the 		
Department’s policy on public sector pay and benefits
providing appropriate reward for effective performance and contribution to achieving the goals of 		
the NIGALA

Executive Pay Arrangements
The main components of the arrangements are:
•
•
•
•

pay and terms and conditions of service for the Executive Director are determined by the DHSSPS
the Executive Director post is subject to evaluation by the HSC Evaluation Panel which is responsible
for the management, maintenance and integrity of the evaluation process
the pay ranges will be reviewed annually. The effective date for any extension of the pay ranges
following review of the ranges by the Minister will be 1 April in the year of the review
there will be progression through the pay range subject to fully acceptable performance

44

NIGALA | Annual Report | 2011-2012

Pay System
Under the system, each grading level has a pay range and progress through the range to the maximum is
subject to fully acceptable performance.
The NIGALA Remuneration Committee ensures the effective operation of a rigorous and robust system
of performance management. Annually the Executive Director is required to draw up objectives which
reflect relevant priorities as described in ‘Priorities for Action’ as well as organisational and individual
goals. This performance is reviewed annually by the Board Chairman followed up by a recommendation
to the Remuneration Committee which determines, in accordance with Departmental guidance the
appropriate performance related pay percentage.

Service Contract 2011/12
Mr Ronnie Williamson was appointed Executive Director of NI Guardian ad Litem Agency on a
permanent basis commencing 22 August 1996. He accepted Senior Executive Terms & Conditions of
Service as provided by Circular HSS (SM) 3/ 2001 on 17 March 2003.

Contracts
HSC appointments are made on the basis of the merit principle in fair and open competition and in
accordance with all relevant legislation. Unless otherwise stated the employee/s covered by this report
are appointed on a permanent basis, subject to satisfactory performance.
Name
Non Executive Member
Bernard Mitchell
Jim Currie
Greg Kelly
Ann McMahon
Alistair Steenson
Executive Members
Ronnie Williamson

Date of Appointment
1st November 2011
1st September 2003
(Resignation effective from 30th October 2011)
1st August 2005
(Term extended on 1st August 2009)
1st August 2005
(Term extended on 1st August 2009)
1st August 2005
(Term extended on 1st August 2009)
22nd August 1996
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Notice Periods
Three months notice is to be provided by either party except in the event of summary dismissal. There is
nothing to prevent either party waiving the right to notice or from accepting payment in lieu of notice.

Retirement Age
From the 6th April 2011, the rules which enable employers to operate a default retirement age are
changing and Regulations have been introduced which will remove the Default Retirement Age (DRA) of
65. On 24 March 2011, OFMDFM made Regulations, the Employment Equality (Repeal of Retirement
Age Provisions) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2011 (S.R. No. 168). These Regulations revoke and
amend provisions in the Employment Equality (Age) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2006 (and amend
certain provisions in the Employment Rights (Northern Ireland) Order 1996) which except certain
dismissals from employment on the basis of retirement from constituting direct age discrimination and
unfair dismissal. These amendments are intended to remove the Default Retirement Age (DRA) of 65.
A new provision relating to insurance arranged by an employer for the employer’s employees and other
persons in connection with that employment is also made. The key dates are:
•

From 6 April 2011, employers will not be able to issue any notifications for compulsory
retirement using the DRA procedure

•

Between 6 April and 1 October, only people who were notified before 6 April, and whose
retirement date is before 1 October can be compulsorily retired using the DRA

•

After 1 October, employers will not be able to use the DRA to compulsorily retire employees

Previously under the DRA employers must give a minimum of six months notice of retirement but no
more than 12 months notice. Retirements notified on or before 5 April 2011 can continue through to
completion provided that the following conditions are met:
•

the DRA procedure, as set out in the previous Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006,
is followed correctly (including the employee’s right to request to stay on is given serious
consideration by the employer)

•

the person retiring has reached 65 or the normal retirement age (if this is higher) before 1
October 2011. Therefore an employee must be 65 by the 30 September if they are to be
retired using the DRA

Employers will not be able to issue notifications of retirement using the DRA after 5 April 2011.
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The provision allowing short (two weeks’) notice of retirement, will also be repealed on 6 April 2011,
and such short notice notifications will not be permitted on or after this date.
If an employee requests an extension of their period of notice of retirement an employer can agree
this and still rely on the DRA provisions to enforce the retirement, providing that the extension is no
more than 6 months and the employee retires on or before 5 October 2012. The employee’s right to
request to work beyond retirement ceases on 5 January 2012.
For employer-justified retirement ages, all notifications made prior to 6 April 2011 will continue to be
valid, and there is no reason to curtail any notifications made under the former DRA arrangements
prior to that date.

Compensation for Premature Retirement
If employees are retired prematurely because of redundancy or in the interests of the efficiency of
the service, benefits may be paid immediately. Employees must have at least two years membership
and have reached the minimum retirement age.
If retiring in the interests of the efficiency of the service benefits are paid without reduction and the
employer meets the cost of paying the pension early.
If made redundant over the minimum retirement age employees may choose to take their redundancy
payment and have their pension paid at normal retirement age, or take their pension benefits
immediately, without reduction. If the employee chooses to take their pension immediately the
employer will use any redundancy payment to meet any additional costs that arise, paying the balance
(if any) to the employee.
For staff, in the 1995 Section only, with more than five years membership at the time they are made
redundant, have continuous membership prior to November 2006 and are made redundant before
30 September 2011, there are special transitional protection arrangements available that provide
enhanced terms depending on the date of redundancy. There were no compensation or exit packages
awarded to Senior Managers during 2011/12.
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Salary and Pension Entitlements Subject to Audit
For each senior manager who served during the year the table below shows the salary, pension
entitlements, and the value of any taxable benefits in kind of the most senior members of the NI Guardian
Ad Litem Agency:
2011/12

2010/11

Perfor- Benefits in kind
Name
Salary mance (rounded to
Pay
nearest £100)
£000s £000
Non Executive Member
Bernard Mitchell
(Appointed from 1st 5-10
November 2011)
Jim Currie
(Resignation
5-10
effective from 30th
October 2011)
Greg Kelly
0-5
Ann McMahon
0-5
Alistair Steenson
0-5
Executive Members
Ronnie Williamson 70-75

0-5

300

PerforSalary, including
mance
Performance Pay
Pay
£000s
£000

Benefits in kind
(rounded to
nearest £100)

-

-

-

5-10

-

-

0-5
0-5
0-5

-

-

70-75

0-5

-
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Name

Real increase
in pension and
related lump
sum at age 60

£000s
Non-Executive Members
Bernard Mitchell
(Appointed from 1st
November 2011)
Jim Currie
(Resignation effective
from 30th October
2011)
Greg Kelly
Ann McMahon
Alistair Steenson
Executive Members
Ronnie Williamson9

Real increase in
Total accrued
CETV after adjustpension at age CETV at CETV at
ment for inflation and
60 and related 31/3/12 31/03/11
changes to market
lump sum
investment factors
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Hutton Fair Pay Review Disclosure
The Hutton Fair Pay Review, published on 15 March 2011, recommended that, from 2011/12, all public
service organisations publish their top to median pay multiples each year. Organisations must disclose
the relationship between the remuneration of the most highly paid director in their organisation and the
median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. The disclosure for NIGALA is outlined in the table
below.

9

2011/12

2010/11

Band of the Highest Paid Director’s
Total Remuneration

70-75

70-75

Median Total Remuneration

46,621

46,621

Ratio

1.6

1.6

Where Directors are over the age of 60 years CETV disclosure is not applicable.
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HSC Superannuation and Pension Schemes
Pension benefits are provided through the HSC Superannuation scheme (for those employed on or
before 1st April 2008) or through the HSC Pension Scheme (for those joining the scheme for the first
time on or after 1st April 2008). Both are ‘final salary’ defined benefit schemes. The scheme is unfunded
with the cost of benefits met by monies voted by Parliament each year. Pensions that are payable are
increased annually in line with changes in the Retail Prices Index. However, all HSC Pension scheme
members should be aware that from the 1st April 2011, the measure by which pensions are increased
each year is changing from the Retail Prices Index (RPI) to the Consumer Prices Index (CPI). This
announcement was made by the Chancellor of the Exchequer in his Emergency Budget in June 2010.
The key effects of these changes are:
a) Pensions currently in payment - Those in receipt will see their annual pension increase by
CPI instead of RPI from April 2011
b) Future uprating of deferred pension rights - The yearly uprating of pensions will be based on
CPI from April 2011. All uprating before April 2011 will continue to use RPI
c) The way new Additional Pension contracts are calculated post April 2011
Member contributions for both schemes are tiered from 5% - 8.5%. Benefits accrue at the rate of 1/80th
of superannuable pay at retirement for each year of scheme membership in the HSC Superannuation
Scheme, and for the HSC Pension Scheme are based on 1/60th of reckonable pay per year of service.
With effect from 1st April 2009 the rate of employer contributions to both the 1995 Section and the
2008 Section of the HSC Pension Schemes has been reduced from 15.7% to 13.3.
In addition, a lump sum equivalent to three years’ pension is payable on retirement for those members of
the 1995 Section of the HSC Pension Scheme.
Members of the 2008 Section have the option to exchange part of pension for cash at retirement, up to
25% of the pension value.
Members of both sections are able to give up some of their annual pension in exchange for a larger lump
sum. From both sections of the Scheme you are able to take some of your benefits as a retirement lump
sum. The maximum lump sum you can take is 25% of your capital value. This is determined by a limit set
by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) and adopted by the Scheme Regulations.
Further details about the Health Service pension arrangements can be found at the website
www.hscpensions.hscni.net
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s
accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment
made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their
former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity
to which the disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details, include the value of
any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the HSC
pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result
of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are
calculated within the guidelines prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
Real Increase in CETV - This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common
market valuation factors for the start and end of the period

____________________________			____________________________
Bernard Mitchell, Chairman				
Ronnie Williamson, Executive Director
5th July 2012
5th July 2012
Date: _________________				Date:
_________________
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Social Care Governance Report
This committee ensures that where problems are identified, appropriate remedial action is taken
and that community and user input into the development and maintenance of social care governance
arrangements is in place. The committee will also ensure that effective mechanisms for engaging the
views of users and staff are developed and that an annual report is brought to the Board, which includes
recommendations for action taken if there is an internal failing in systems or services. The committee met
on the following dates in 2011/12:•
•
•

23rd June 2011
1st December 2012
15th March 2012

Its membership is as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mr Greg Kelly (Chairman)
Ms Pricilla McLoughlin (HSC Trust Representative) - Ended January 2012
Mr Harry McKibbin (District Judge)
Ms Karen McAllister (VOYPIC)
Ms Anne Caldwell (Law Society Representative)
Mr Ronnie Williamson (Executive Director)
Ms Patricia O’Kane (Assistant Director)
Mrs Lily Barr (Assistant Director)
Mr Peter Reynolds (Assistant Director)
Mr John Sheldon (Quality Assurance and Training Manager)
Mr Declan McAllister (Corporate Services Manager)
Mrs Cathy Donnelly (Guardian ad litem) - Ended January 2012
Mr Peter McAlister (Guardian ad Litem)

The following activities were undertaken by the Social Care Governance Committee:
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

quarterly review of case workload and trends shared with all stakeholder representatives
review of the liaison links between NIGALA and each of the five Health and Social Care Trusts
review of the feedback received from children, young people, judiciary and solicitors
regular monitoring of the SCG action plan including developmental work to enhance the individual
and organisational capacity for engagement with children and young people in direct work via
In My Shoes and also in the new provision for young people to provide online feedback.
monitoring of organisational efficiencies in service delivery and review of actions agreed with
professional partners
overseeing the implementation of the NIGALA personal and public involvement strategy
assurance to the NIGALA Board on the work of the committee
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Information Governance Committee Report
The Information Governance Committee Annual Report
This committee is responsible to the Board for the development and implementation of the information
governance agenda and ensuring that robust objectives, performance measures and evaluations
processes are in place to provide an effective system of control of information across the whole of the
organisation’s activities. In carrying out this work the committee will primarily utilise the work of internal
audit and other assurance functions. The committee met on the following dates in 2011/12:•
•
•
•

2nd June 2011
4th October 2011
23rd November 2011
11th January 2012

Its membership is as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mr Bernard Mitchell, Chair [commenced November 2011)
Mr Jim Currie, former Chair [term ended October 2011]
Mr Ronnie Williamson (Executive Director)
Ms Patricia O’Kane (Assistant Director)
Mrs Lily Barr (Assistant Director)
Mr Peter Reynolds (Assistant Director)
Mr John Sheldon (Quality Assurance and Training Manager)
Mr Declan McAllister (Corporate Services Manager)
Mr Ronan Durnin (Business Manager – Information and Records)

The following activities were undertaken by the Information Governance Committee:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

recommendation of the Data Protection Policy, Clear Desk Policy and Information Governance
Framework for Board Approval
review of Information Governance Training and the completion of SIRO training for all NIGALA
managers
review of the NIGALA Information Governance Action Plan
approval of the security arrangements for all NIGALA ICT devices including encryption for laptops
and the group policy for security of blackberry devices.
preparation and delivery of the Children Panel Solicitor Data Access Agreement Survey
completion of the NIGALA information audit and associated actions
review of the Implementation of the Business Services Transformation Programme (BSTP)
review of the case file tracking system
assurance to the NIGALA Board on the work of the committee
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Risk Management Report
The work of the NIGALA Risk Management Committee during 2011-12 has involved the regular review
of the risk register and the identification of appropriate controls and actions necessary to militate against
risk.
The management team has kept the corporate risk register under review on at least a monthly basis with
a complete review of the risk register by the risk management committee on a quarterly basis. The audit
committee which has responsibility for the oversight of risk management is provided with regular reports
on the NIGALA risk register, action plan progress and risk assurance framework . The bar chart and
associated table below show the risk areas and ratings at the end of March 2012.
Figure 7: NIGALA Risks by Risk Area and Risk Level at 31st March 2012
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The risk management team has completed 32 actions in relation to reducing risk and implementing
controls during 2011-12.
In support of the management of risk, NIGALA has an effective incident management system in place
to capture the categories of incidents. During the year there were 19 incidents reported. Of these, four
incidents were linked to verbal or physical abuse of staff which were reported to the DHSSPS. Figures
8 and 9 show that there were ten near miss incidents, five incidents linked to emotional distress for staff,
one incident which lead to a minor injury and one incident which caused disruption to services.
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Fig 8 Incidents Reported in Period 2011/12
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The Risk Management Committee takes staff safety extremely seriously and it is not uncommon for
guardian ad litem staff to suffer verbal or even physical abuse in the conduct of their duties. NIGALA has
revised its personal protection arrangements and issued a checklist for personal protection to all staff.
There are further controls currently under consideration.
A key element which informs the management of risk is the implementation of the NIGALA Comments,
Compliments and Complaints Policy and reporting system. NIGALA has dealt with a total of 11
Comments, Compliments and Complaints and Figure 10 outlines the breakdown of each of these
feedback sources.
Figure 10: Comments, Compliments and Complaints by Type and Method in 2011/12
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There were three complaints received during 2011/12 which were resolved as set out in the table below.
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Complaints Resolution 2011/12
Resolution Type

No. Resolved
at Stage 1

No. Resolved
at Stage 2

Heard by
Complaints Board

Initial Mediation
Initial Investigation

0
0

0
0

1
2

Finally, in 2011/12 the Agency received 12 requests for information. Figure 11 below outlines the nature
of the information requests and the legislation involved.

Figure 11:

Requests for Information by Type and Subject 2011/12
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Section 6
Financial Review
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Financial Review
The Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency receives an annual “grant in aid” allocation from the
DHSSPS made up for both capital and revenue amounts, which it manages through a strict system of
internal financial control. Under the Management Framework and Financial Memorandum agreed with
NIGALA’s sponsoring unit at the DHSSPS, the Agency accounts have been prepared on the going
concern basis. Management are not aware of any conditions or events, currently or in the future, that
would bring this assumption into question. The accounts have been audited by the Northern Ireland
Audit Office (NIAO) and the external audit completed by the NIAO representative, KPMG. An
unqualified opinion on the financial systems and accounts has been provided by NIAO.

Financial Position
For the accounting period April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 NIGALA met its breakeven target with an
underspend of £1,985 which is within the 0.25% target.
The Agency can also report that a total of £21,300 non-recurrent ring fenced revenue was allocated
by the DHSSPS to NIGALA for legal representation support. NIGALA can confirm all non-recurrent
monies allocated were spent on legal representation. The Agency can also report that a total of £10,000
was awarded by the Health and Social Care Board in response to NIGALA’s PPI application for the
implementation of the accredited training programme called “In My Shoes” for all guardian ad litem staff.
Under the capital allocations provided to NIGALA during 2011/12 a small under spend
of £432 was recorded.

Financial Summary
Post Balance Sheet Events
There were no post Balance Sheet events.

Charitable Donations
NIGALA did not make any charitable donations during the year.
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Prompt Payment Policy
NIGALA is committed to the prompt payment of bills for goods and services received in accordance
with the Confederation of British Industry’s Prompt Payers Code. Unless otherwise stated in the
contract, payment is due within 30 days of the receipt of goods or services, or presentation of a valid
invoice or similar demand, whichever is the later.
Regular reviews conducted to measure how promptly NIGALA paid its bills found that 98.7% of bills
were paid within this standard. The Late Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2002 provides small
businesses with a statutory right to claim interest on the late payment of commercial debt. During the
year, NIGALA incurred no interest payments.

Audit
The accounts and supporting notes relating to NIGALA’s activities for the year ended 31 March 2012
have been audited by the Northern Ireland Audit Office. The report of the Comptroller and Auditor
General is included on Page 91. So far as the Executive Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which NIGALA’s auditors are unaware. The Executive Director has taken all the steps that
he ought to have taken to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
entity’s auditors are aware of that information.
The external audit fee for the year ended 31 March 2012 was £8,560. There were no fees paid to the
external auditors during the year in relation to non-audit services. NIGALA took part in the National
Fraud Initiative during the current year, in which no fee was payable by the Agency.

Annual Accounts
These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012 have been prepared in accordance with Article
90(2)(a) of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972, as amended by
Article 6 of the Audit and Accountability (Northern Ireland) Order 2003, in a form directed by the
Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety.
The full set of Financial Statements in Appendix 2 outlines the financial performance of the Agency over
the period. However, to gain a more complete picture of the activities and performance of the Agency,
the Auditor’s report for the year ended March 31, 2012 should also be consulted.
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Appendix 1 - Statistics
Figures in the statistical tables are provided from the Guardian Case Information System (GCIS). The
unit of measurement is an Application, upon its receipt by NIGALA from the court and its entry into
GCIS. An application can involve multiple children.
Period:
1st April 2011 to March 31st 2012
1st April 2010 to March 31st 2011
Definitions
A Case

A case is defined as the basic unit of work allocated to an individual guardian. It
might involve one child or a group of children linked by family relationship or by an
application.

Lead Proceeding

For any one child a number of applications may be current when the case starts.
The case is counted under the lead proceedings eg where there are applications
for care and contact, the lead category would be care.

Multiple
proceedings

If, within one case, there are a number of children who would be counted
under markedly different proceedings, the case is counted under the multiple
proceedings category

Substitution

This proceeding type is used when one order is being substituted by another.

Freeing
[Consolidated]

When a specified proceedings case has been ongoing and a freeing application is
made then this case will counted under the category Freeing [Consolidated].

Requested

Court requests the appointment of a guardian ad litem

Allocated

The Agency has allocated a case to an individual guardian ad litem

PROCEEDINGS GROUP APPLICATIONS IN PROCEEDINGS GROUP
Adoption Proceedings
Adoption Abroad, Placement Adoption, Step parent adoption, Relative
Adoption, Inter-country Adoption, Freeing, Parental order (HEF Act)
Care Proceedings

Care, Contact, Supervision, Freeing Consolidated, A56 Investigation,
Residence, Child Assessment

Emergency Proceedings

Emergency Protection, Extension of EPO

Secure Proceedings

Secure accommodation

Other Proceedings

Appeal, Multiple Proceedings, Family Assistance, Change of Surname,
Education Supervision, Live Abrad, Parental Responsibility, Specific Issue,
Removal from Jurisdiction
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Table 1A
The Number of Case Appointments by Proceedings Type in Period

Period:

From April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012
From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

Case Type
ADOPTION PLACEMENT
ADOPTION RELATIVE
ADOPTION STEP PARENTS
APPEAL
CARE APPLICATION A.50
CHILD ASSESSMENT
CONTACT A.53
DISCHARGE/VARIATION OF SO/CO A.58
EMERGENCY PROTECTION A.63
EXTENSION OF EPO A.64(4)
FREEING APPLICATION [with consent]
FREEING APPLICATION [without consent]
FREEING CONSOLIDATED
INTER COUNTRY ADOPTION
INVESTIGATION IN CHILD CIRC. A56
MULTIPLE PROCEEDINGS
PARENTAL ORDER [HEF ACT]
REMOVAL FROM JURISDICTION
RESIDENCE ORDER (CHILD IN CARE) A.8
SECURE ACCOMMODATION A.44
SPECIFIC ISSUE A8
SUPERVISION APPLICATION A.50
TERMINATION/VARIATION OF CONTACT
Total :

No of Cases
4/11-3/12
4/10-3/11
63
44
3
6
21
20
10
17
351
279
1
0
22
27
24
46
1
0
1
0
0
1
49
33
1
0
6
4
12
18
0
4
1
1
1
0
1
1
49
37
0
1
8
5
1
5
626
549

No. of Children
4/11-3/12
4/10-3/11
80
52
3
7
27
25
25
27
583
451
3
0
42
49
37
78
2
0
1
0
0
1
65
44
2
0
6
4
17
28
0
4
1
1
2
0
1
1
49
37
0
1
15
12
2
7
963
829

Table 1A illustrates the total number of appointments of guardians ad litem and the number of children involved
from April 2011 to March 2012 and breaks these down by proceedings type. The total number of cases increased
from 549 to 626 (14%) with the number of children subject to proceedings increasing from 829 to 963 (16%).
In specified public law cases, Care Order appointments rose from 279 to 351 (26%). Six years ago the
number of Care Order appointments was 148, an increase of almost 140%. Appointments relating to
applications to discharge or vary orders decreased by almost 50% from 46 to 24. Following a drop in the
number of Secure Accommodation appointments last year, the figure rose by a third this year from 37 to
49 and Article 56 applications dropped again from 18 to 12.
Following a decline in the number of Adoption proceedings in recent years, this year witnessed an increase
in both placement adoptions and freeing without consent. Placement adoption rose by 43% from 44 to 63
which is the highest figure within the jurisdiction for more than five years. Freeing without consent rose by
almost 50% from 33 to 49.
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Table 1B
The Number of Cases Allocated by Proceedings Type in Period

Period:

From April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012
From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

Case Type
ADOPTION PLACEMENT
ADOPTION RELATIVE
ADOPTION STEP PARENTS
APPEAL
CARE APPLICATION A.50
CONTACT A.53
DISCHARGE/VARIATION OF SO/CO A.58
EMERGENCY PROTECTION A.63
EXTENSION OF EPO A.64(4)
FREEING APPLICATION [with consent]
FREEING APPLICATION [without consent]
FREEING CONSOLIDATED
INTER COUNTRY ADOPTION
INVESTIGATION IN CHILD CIRC. A56
MULTIPLE PROCEEDINGS
PARENT ORDER [HEF ACT]
REMOVAL FROM JURISDICTION
RESIDENCE ORDER (CHILD IN CARE) A.8
SECURE ACCOMMODATION A.44
SPECIFIC ISSUE A8
SUPERVISION APPLICATION A.50
TERMINATION /VARIATION OF CONTACT
Total :

No of Cases
4/11-3/12
4/10-3/11
61
45
3
6
19
21
11
15
353
267
23
25
25
45
1
0
1
0
0
1
49
33
1
0
6
4
13
13
0
4
1
1
1
0
2
0
49
37
0
1
6
5
1
5
626
528

No. of Children
4/11-3/12
4/10-3/11
78
53
3
7
25
26
27
24
588
433
42
46
38
77
2
0
1
0
0
1
64
44
2
0
6
4
20
18
0
4
1
1
2
0
2
0
49
37
0
1
13
12
2
7
965
795

Table 1B illustrates the total number of cases allocated and children involved in 2011/12 compared with
the previous year. There was a total of 626 cases allocated, 98 more than the previous year (19%) and as
was the case last year, the increase is largely accounted for in terms of additional Care application cases.

NIGALA | Annual Report | 2011-2012

65

Table 2A
Total Number of Cases Completed by Proceedings Type

Period:

From April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012
From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

Case Type [At start of case]
ADOPTION PLACEMENT
ADOPTION RELATIVE
ADOPTION STEP PARENTS
APPEAL
CARE APPLICATION A.50
CONTACT A.53
DISCHARGE/VARIATION OF SO/CO A.58
EMERGENCY PROTECTION
EXTENSION OF EPO A.64(4)
FREEING APPLICATION [with consent]
FREEING APPLICATION [without consent]
FREEING [CONSOLIDATED]
INTER COUNTRY ADOPTION
INVESTIGATION IN CHILD CIRC. A56
MULTIPLE PROCEEDINGS
NO CONTACT
PARENTAL ORDER [HEF ACT]
REMOVAL FROM JURISDICTION
RESIDENCE ORDER (CHILD IN CARE) A.8
SECURE ACCOMMODATION A.44
SPECIFIC ISSUE A8
SUPERVISION APPLICATION A.50
TERMINATION OF CONTACT
Total :

No of Cases
4/11-3/12
43
7
26
20
262
22
39
1
1
0
54
7
6
20
1
0
2
1
1
47
0
5
1
566

4/10-3/11
50
4
28
6
234
29
36
0
0
1
40
10
4
22
1
1
0
1
2
39
1
9
5
523

No. of Children
4/11-3/12
4/10-3/11
55
63
8
4
29
35
42
10
455
409
38
51
67
57
2
0
1
0
0
1
66
61
13
24
6
4
29
42
1
1
0
2
2
0
2
2
1
3
47
39
0
1
11
21
2
7
877
837

Table 2A illustrates the number of cases completed during 2011/12 compared with 2010/11 and indicates
an increase of 8% from 523 cases to 566. Once again the number of Care application cases is largely
responsible for this increase (234-262).
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Table 2B
Total Number of Cases Completed by Proceedings Group

Period:

From April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012
From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

Case Type
ADOPTION PROCEEDINGS
PUBLIC LAW PROCEEDINGS
TOTAL

No of Cases
4/11-3/12
134
432
566

4/10-3/11
127
396
523

Table 2B shows the number of cases completed by proceedings group. Adoption proceedings incorporate
all Placement Adoptions, Step Parent Adoptions, Inter Country Adoptions and Freeing applications. In
this context, Care proceedings include all Care and Supervision Orders as well as Contact and Freeing
Consolidated applications. There was a total of 43 more cases completed compared to the previous year.

Table 2C
Total Number of EPO Cases which proceeded to become care applications in period in which guardians
have been appointed
Case Type
EMERGENCY PROTECTION A.63

No of Cases
4/11-3/12
4/10-3/11
27
43

No. of Children
4/11-3/12
4/10-3/11
39
73

Table 2C shows that there has been a significant decrease in the number of Emergency Protection Orders
(EPO) in which guardians ad litem are appointed i.e. 43 to 27, a decrease of 37%. This reverses the trend
of the previous year which saw a rise of almost 50%.
(please note that these figures do not reflect the total amount of EPOs granted in Northern Ireland in the
respective years).
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Table 3
The Number of Adoption and Specified Case Appointments by Trust/Adoption Agency Area

Period:

From April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012
From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

Trust/Agency
ADOPTION WORK
BELFAST CARE TRUST
FAMILY ROUTES
FAMILY CARE SOCIETY
NORTHERN CARE TRUST
SOUTH EASTERN CARE TRUST
SOUTHERN CARE TRUST
WESTERN CARE TRUST

No of Cases
4/11-3/12
43
0
2
28
21
28
21

4/10-3/11
22
0
1
26
21
22
17

No. of Children
4/11-3/12
4/10-3/11
54
32
0
0
3
2
36
28
23
27
39
28
27
17

Total for Adoption Proceedings:

143

109

182

134

SPECIFIED WORK
BELFAST CARE TRUST
NORTHERN CARE TRUST
SOUTH EASTERN CARE TRUST
SOUTHERN CARE TRUST
WESTERN CARE TRUST

4/11-3/12
129
92
96
94
72

4/10-3/11
97
107
88
87
61

4/11-3/12
209
152
160
150
110

4/10-3/11
147
177
145
144
82

Total for Specified Proceedings:

483

440

781

695

OVERALL TOTAL FOR PROCEEDINGS

626

549

963

829

Table 3 details the number of appointments of guardians as a result of applications made by Trusts,
Adoption Agencies, and individuals within the respective Trust areas, as well the number of children
subject to these proceedings. What is striking here is the rise in the total number of adoption appointments
from 109 to 143, a rise of just over 30% over the previous year’s figures. Whilst most the Trusts
demonstrate small increases in adoption applications, it is the Belfast Trust that accounts for the bulk of
the increase with 43 originating from that Trust’s area compared with 22 in 2010/11.
In the public law domain it is the Belfast Trust that is again largely responsible for the increasing numbers
witnessed here with an increase of almost exactly a third from 97 cases to 129. The Western Trust had an
increase of approximately 20%. It is interesting to note that whereas all the Trusts increased their numbers
with regards to specified hearings, the Northern Trust posted a decrease of 15 cases from 107 to 92
(14%). However it should be noted that in the previous year the Northern Trust had increased its specified
applications by 70% so the general trend remains an upward one.
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Table 4
Total Number of Gals Appointed in Period by Name and Level of Court
Period: April 2011 to March 2012 and April 2010 to March 2011
Case Group
Court Name
ADOPTION PROCEEDINGS
Antrim County Court
Ballymena County
Belfast Family Care Centre
Belfast County Court
Royal Courts of Justice
Craigavon Family Care Centre
Craigavon County Court
Dungannon Family Care Centre
Fermanagh & Tyrone County Court
Londonderry County Court
Londonderry Family Care Centre
Omagh County Court
Total for Group
CARE PROCEEDINGS
Ballymena FPC
Belfast Family Care Centre
Belfast County Court
Belfast & Newtownabbey FPC
Royal Courts of Justice
Craigavon Family Care Centre
Craigavon County Court
Craigavon FPC
Dungannon Family Care Centre
East Tyrone FPC
Londonderry FPC
Londonderry Family Care Centre
Newry & Mourne FPC
Ards FPC
Omagh County Court
Total for Group
EMERGENCY PROTECTION PROCEEDINGS
Belfast & Newtownabbey FPC
Ards FPC
Total for Group

Court Level
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
HIGH COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT

MAGISTRATES COURT
COUNTY COURT
COUNTY COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
HIGH COURT
CARE CENTRE
COUNTY COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
CARE CENTRE
MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
CARE CENTRE
MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
COUNTY COURT

MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT

No of Cases
4/11-3/12 4/10-3/11
3
0
2
1
25
6
19
22
52
51
9
0
15
20
3
1
3
2
8
5
3
0
1
1
143
109
4/11-3/12 4/10-3/11
44
52
41
31
4
8
98
76
19
28
13
13
1
4
37
35
5
3
45
42
25
10
6
5
34
28
47
45
1
0
420
380
4/11-3/12 4/10-3/11
1
1

0
0

2

0
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OTHER PROCEEDINGS
Ballymena FPC
Belfast & Newtownabbey FPC
Belfast Family Care Centre
Royal Courts of Justice
Craigavon Care Centre
Dungannon Family Care Centre
East Tyrone FPC
Londonderry FPC
Ards FPC

MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
CARE CENTRE
HIGH COURT
CARE CENTRE
CARE CENTRE
MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT

Total for Group
SECURE PROCEEDINGS
Ballymena FPC
Belfast & Newtownabbey FPC
Belfast Family Care Centre
Royal Courts of Justice
Craigavon FPC
East Tyrone FPC
Londonderry FPC
Newry & Mourne FPC
Ards FPC

Total for Group
Total for Report :

MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
CARE CENTRE
HIGH COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
MAGISTRATES COURT
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4/11-3/12
0
0
1
6
1
1
1
0
2

4/10-3/11
1
1
2
8
2
6
1
1
1

12

23

4/11-3/12
7
9
0
1
7
4
9
1
11

4/10-3/11
2
12
1
2
2
5
6
1
6

49
626

37
549

Adoption
Table 4 shows that in the period April 2011 to March 2012 there was a total of 143 appointments of
guardians in the field of adoption, an increase of 34 over the same period last year. The majority of
Adoption/Freeing appointments are from the High Court (52), with others coming from various Care
Centres and County Courts, predominately Belfast, Craigavon and Londonderry County Courts.
Care Proceedings
With respect to the Care proceedings group (which includes applications for supervisions, care, contact
and freeing consolidated), there was a total of 420 appointments in 2011/12, on this current year, an
increase of 40 or 11% over the previous year. Outside of Belfast the busiest courts in terms of care
proceedings are Newtownards, Ballymena and East Tyrone.
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Table 5
The Number of Days between Notification of Court Appointment and the Final Hearing Date by
Proceedings Type
Period:

From April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012
From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

Case Type (At end of Case)

No of Cases

Average Days

ADOPTION PLACEMENT
ADOPTION STEP PARENTS
ADOPTION RELATIVE
APPEAL
CARE APPLICATION A.50
CONTACT A.53
DISCHARGE/VARIATION OF SO/CO A.58
EMERGENCY PROTECTION A.63
EXTENSION OF EPO A.64(4)
FREEING APPLICATION [with consent]
FREEING APPLICATION [without consent]
FREEING [CONSOLIDATED]
INTER COUNTRY ADOPTION
INVESTIGATION IN CHILD CIRC. A56
MULTIPLE PROCEEDINGS
NO CONTACT
PARENTAL ORDER [HEF ACT]
REMOVAL FROM JURISDICTION
RESIDENCE ORDER (CHILD IN CARE) A.8
SECURE ACCOMMODATION A.44
SPECIFIC ISSUE A8
SUPERVISION APPLICATION A.50
TERMINATION OF CONTACT
Total/ Average :

4/11-3/12
43
26
7
20
262
22
39
1
1
0
54
7
6
20
1
0
2
1
1
47
0
5
1
566

4/11-3/12
142.53
215.00
140.43
202.25
383.12
271.59
205.62
0.00
7.00
0
239.96
704.14
159.17
340.10
224.00
0
73.00
51.00
227.00
64.23
0
284.40
112.00

4/10-3/11
50
28
4
6
234
29
36
0
0
1
40
10
4
22
1
1
0
1
2
39
1
9
5
523

4/10-3/11
173.74
232.50
204.75
77.17
376.62
187.62
176.06
0
0
102.00
295.10
497.20
282.25
308.36
38.00
138.00
0
303.00
280.50
68.13
5.00
324.00
182.80

Table 5 records the range and duration of cases before the courts in Northern Ireland from the date of
notification of court appointment of the guardian ad litem to the date of final hearing and the discharge
of the guardian. In previous years an increase in the duration of Care application cases under Article 50
has been a concern for all involved in these cases, so it is discouraging to note that after a decrease in the
number of days noted last year, there has again been a slight increase with the average number of days
rising from 377 to 383.
In contrast the situation within the area of adoption is one of decreasing timescales. The average length
of a placement adoption dropped from 174 days to 143. Likewise in Freeing (without consent) there was
an decrease of approximately two months from 295 days to 240. However, although just a small number
of Freeing Consolidated cases come before the courts annually, the average duration is now 704 days, an
increase over the previous year of 40%.
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Table 6
The Number of Court Transfers by Proceedings Type (Based on Appointments in Period)
Period: From April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 and April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

Proceedings Type
Year
Appeal
Care
Discharge of Order
Contact
Article 56

FPC-CC/RC
4/10-3/11 4/10-3/11
0
0
31
28
0
1
0
1
1
1

FPC-HC
4/10-3/11
0
2
0
0
0

4/10-3/11
0
9
1
2
0

CC/RC-HC
4/10-3/11 4/10-3/11
1
1
4
0
0
0
0
1
1
0

Total

32

2

12

6

31

2

FPC = Family proceedings court; CC= County Court / Care Centre;
RC = Recorders Court; HC = High Court
Table 6 records the number of cases transferred to a higher court for final hearing. In such transfers, the
vast majority involve the transfer of Care cases from a Family Proceedings court to a County Court or the
High Court.

6

42

Intercountry Adoption

Appeal

Care
WITHDRAWN 34

455

8

Adoption Relative

WITHDRAWN 2

29

55

No. of
Applications

Adoption Step Parent
WITHDRAWN 8

Initial Application
Applied For
Adoption Placement

Care
No Order
Residence Order
Supervision Order
Family Assistance Order

Appeal Upheld

Appeal Rejected

Adoption Order

Adoption Order

Adoption Order

Gal
Recommendation
Adoption Order

339
16
16
48
2

5

35

6

8

21

Care
No Order
Residence Order
Supervision Order
Family Assistance Order

Appeal Upheld

Appeal Rejected

Adoption Order

Adoption Order

Adoption Order

Number of GAL
Court Order
Recommendations Granted
Adoption Order
55

Gal Recommendation in relation to Initial Applications and Court Orders Granted
Case Completed between April 1, 2011 and March 31, 2012

Table 7

334
14
16
55
2

5

35

6

8

21

55

No. Of Court
Orders Granted

72
NIGALA | Annual Report | 2011-2012

10

In this case during the life of the freeing application an adoption application was also made.

WITHDRAWN 3

Care
No Order
Residence Order
Family Assistance Order

29

Investigation Art 56

2
6
3
1

2

1

Care Order
Parental Order

12

Freeing

Parental Order (HEF Act) 2

13

2

Residence Order

Freeing Consolidated

62
1

Freeing
Adoption Order

23

30

Freeing [without consent] 65

Discharge of Order

Number of GAL
Recommendations
4
3
3
2
4

Order to remain

67

Discharge of Care/SO

Gal
Recommendation
Contact
No Order
No Contact Order
Discharge of Order
Care Order

WITHDRAWN 14

2

1

No. of
Applications
38

Extension of EPO
Lapsed 2

Emergency Protection
Lapsed 1

Initial Application
Applied For
Contact
WITHDRAWN 22

Care
No Order
Residence Order
Family Assistance Order

Parental Order

Care Order

Freeing

Residence Order

Freeing
Adoption Order 10

Order to remain

Discharge of Order

Court Order
Granted
Contact
No Order
No Contact Order
Discharge of Order
Care Order

2
6
3
1

2

12
1

62
1
2

22

31

No. Of Court
Orders Granted
4
2
4
2
4
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2
11

877

Termination of Contact
Supervision

WITHDRAWN 5
Total

3

2
3

Supervision Order

No Contact Order
Care Order

Secure Accommodation
No Order

Removal from Jurisdiction
Care Order

3

2
3

21
13

2
1

1

No. Of Court
Orders Granted
3
11

In adoption cases, there was a 100% correlation between the guardian’s recommendation and the final order made. In Care proceedings, there was a very
high correlation between the guardians’ recommendations and the final order made; in this category the main order was the Care Order with the guardians
recommending 339 orders and the court granting 334.

Table 7 indicates the number of court orders granted and guardian ad litem recommendations on each child in adoption and specified public law cases. It
does not chart the changes influenced by the guardian during the progress of the case before the court either generally in terms of services to the child or
specifically within the context of the Care Plan.

No Contact Order
Care Order
Supervision Order

Secure Accommodation
No Order

47

Secure Accommodation
WITHDRAWN 13

21
13

Removal from Jurisdiction 2
Care Order
1

1

Residence

11
1

Supervision Order
Residence Order

Supervision Order
Residence Order

Number of GAL
Court Order
Recommendations Granted
3
Contact Order

Gal
Recommendation
Contact Order

Removal From Jurisdiction 2
Multiple Proceedings
1

No. of
Applications

Initial Application
Applied For
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0
0
0
1
41
0
0
0
0
0
2
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
45

M

F
2
0
0
1
48
0
0
0
1
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
54

Under 1

25
2
2
4
86
0
5
9
0
29
0
4
2
0
0
0
0
1
0
169

M
27
0
0
3
79
1
4
4
0
18
0
1
2
0
0
0
0
3
0
142

F

1- Under 5

-

15
5
0
3
92
0
9
8
0
12
0
0
3
0
0
0
0
4
0
151

M
9
3
1
3
69
0
9
4
1
3
0
1
4
0
0
1
0
0
1
109

F

5 - Under
10

1
9
0
6
77
1
6
7
0
0
0
0
1
0
1
0
9
3
0
121

M
1
3
0
3
78
0
9
2
1
1
0
0
5
0
0
0
29
3
0
135

F

10-Under
15

0
4
0
0
4
1
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
1
0
14

M

F
0
1
0
1
9
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
8
0
1
23

16 & 17

Period: April 2011 to March 2012

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

M

Other

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

F
41
20
2
14
300
2
20
25
0
41
2
4
6
1
1
0
12
9
0
500

M

39
7
1
11
283
1
22
12
3
24
0
2
11
0
1
1
37
6
2
463

F

Totals

80
27
3
25
583
3
42
37
3
65
2
6
17
1
2
1
49
15
2
963

Total

Table 8 breaks down statistics with regard to all proceedings by way of age and gender. The figures confirm a reversal from two years ago when there
were more females than males and moves back to the position where traditionally there have been slightly more males than females. The striking thing
about these figures is the increase in the one to under five age group which now equates to a total of 311 children. In previous years it has usually been
older age groups that have had the biggest number of children.

ADOPTION PLACEMENT
ADOPTION STEP PARENTS
ADOPTION RELATIVE
APPEAL
CARE APPLICATION
CHILD ASSESSMENT
CONTACT
DISCHARGE/VARIATION OF SO/CO
EMERGENCY PROTECTION/EXTN
FREEING APPLICATION [without consent]
FREEING CONSOLIDATED
INTER COUNTRY ADOPTION
INVESTIGATION IN CHILD CIRC.
PARENTAL ORDER [HEF ACT]
REMOVAL FROM JURISDICTION
RESIDENCE ORDER (CHILD IN CARE)
SECURE ACCOMMODATION
SUPERVISION APPLICATION
TERMINATION/VARIATION OF CONTACT
Total for Report :

APPLICATION

Age and Gender of Children subject of Proceedings by Case Type

Table 8
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Appendix 2 - Annual Accounts
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NORTHERN IRELAND
GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

Foreword
These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012 have been prepared in accordance with Article 90(2)
(a) of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972, as amended by Article 6
of the Audit and Accountability (Northern Ireland) Order 2003, in a form directed by the Department of
Health, Social Services and Public Safety.
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
STATEMENT OF NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY’S
RESPONSIBILITIES AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES.
Under the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972 (as amended by Article 6
of the Audit and Accountability (Northern Ireland) Order 2003), the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety has directed the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency to prepare for each
financial year a statement of accounts in the firm and to the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The
financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must provide a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency, of its income and expenditure, changes in
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements
of Government Financial Reporting Manual (FREM) and in particular to :
•

observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Department of Health, Social Services and Public
Safety, including relevant accounting and disclosure requirements and apply suitable accounting
policies on a consistent basis;

•

make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in FREM have been followed, and disclose
and explain any material departures in the financial statements;

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency will continue in operation;

•

keep proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency; and

•

pursue and demonstrate value for money in the services the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem
Agency provides and in its use of public assets and the resources it controls.

The Permanent Secretary of the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety, as Accounting
Officer for health and personal social services resources in Northern Ireland, has designated R Williamson,
the Executive Director of the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency, as the Accounting Officer for
the Agency. The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records
and for safeguarding the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency assets are set out in the Accountable
Officer Memorandum, issued by the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety.
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
CERTIFICATE OF THE CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
I certify that the annual accounts set out in the financial statements and notes to the accounts (pages
97-132) which I am required to prepare on behalf of the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency
have been compiled from and are in accordance with the accounts and financial records maintained
by the Northern Ireland Social Care Council and with the accounting standards and policies for HSC
bodies approved by the DHSSPS.

…………………………………………..Executive Director
5th July 2012
…………………………………………..Date
I certify that the annual accounts set out in the financial statements and notes to the accounts (pages
97-132) as prepared in accordance with the above requirements have been submitted to and duly
approved by the Board.

………………………………………….Chairman
5th July 2012
………………………………………..…Date

…………………………………………..Executive Director
5th July 2012
…………………………………………..Date
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
Scope of Responsibility
The Board of the NI Guardian ad Litem Agency (‘the Agency’) is accounting for internal control. As
Accounting Officer and Executive Director of the Board, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound
system of internal control that supports the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me by the Department of Health, Social Services and
Public Safety.
As Accounting Officer, I represent the Agency on a number of external fora which include the multidisciplinary Children Order Advisory Committee (COAC) chaired by the Family Judge of the Royal
Courts of Justice, Northern Ireland and the Law Society of Northern Ireland Solicitor Accreditation
Board (Children’s Order Panel) in order to ensure that the Agency’s aims and objectives are
communicated and supported within our stakeholder family.
As Accounting Officer, I further our aims and objectives through the process of regular business
meetings with our key professional stakeholders namely the Northern Ireland Courts and Tribunals
Service, the Law Society of NI, the DHSSPS Child Care Policy Directorate, the Health and Social Care
Trusts and also through internal committees of the organisation i.e. the Agency Board, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Information Governance Committee, Risk Management Committee and
Social Care Governance Committee.
The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate
all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process
designed to:
•

identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of organisational policies, aims and objectives; and

•

evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to
manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The system of internal control has been in place in the Agency for the year ended 31 March 2012, and
up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts, and accords with Department of Health,
Social Services and Public Safety guidance. A midyear assurance report was submitted on the 21st
October 2011 which updated progress on the continuing effectiveness of the system of internal control
to the permanent secretary of the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety.
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The Board exercises strategic control over the operation of the organisation through a system of
corporate governance which includes:•

the regular review of governance documents including standing financial instructions, standing orders,
the standards of business conduct for all staff and the review of this Statement on Internal Control;

•

the existence of a schedule of matters reserved solely for Board Decisions;

•

a scheme of delegation, which delegates decision making authority within set parameters to the
Executive Director and other officers;

•

the establishment of audit, remuneration, social care governance and information governance
committees and a regular review of their terms of reference;

•

the agreement of regular reports which come before the Board for approval;

•

the approval of all Agency policies; and

•

the production of a mid-year assurance statement.

The system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular financial information,
and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and
accountability. In particular it includes:•

comprehensive budgeting systems with an annual budget which is reviewed and agreed by the Board;

•

reviews by the Board of the latest financial reports which indicate financial performance against the
forecast at each Board meeting;

•

the annual setting of key performance indicators to measure ongoing financial and business
performances;

•

review of the Agency Management Statement and Financial Memorandum; and

•

review of all internal and external audit reports.

The Agency has an internal audit function which operates to defined standards and whose work is
informed by an analysis of risk to which the organisation is exposed and annual audit plans are based on
this analysis. In 2011/12, the Internal Auditor reviewed the following systems: Financial Management,
Risk Management, Human Resources, Case Management and Lone and Remote Working. The auditor
also conducted follow up reviews with reports for the Audit Committee in October 2011 and March
2012. The Internal Auditor provided assurance that the systems of internal control were satisfactory with
no priority one findings.
Action plans are currently in place to deal with all other weaknesses identified.
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In relation to financial systems, the Agency has a service level agreement with the Business Services
Organisation (BSO) for, inter alia, financial payments and transactions. The Agency also operates a
corresponding accounting system for monitoring and control purposes. The Internal Auditor provided
assurance that the Agency’s systems of internal financial control were satisfactory with no priority 1
findings, however some priority two weaknesses were identified and actions to address these control
weaknesses have been implemented by the Agency.
With regard to the wider control environment, the Agency has in place a range of organisational controls
commensurate with the current assessment of risk which is designed to ensure the efficient and effective
discharge of its business in accordance with the law and departmental direction. Every effort is made to
ensure that the objectives of the Agency are pursued in accordance with the recognised and accepted
standards of public administration.
For example, to manage the risk to the Agency of increased levels of case work from the Northern
Ireland family courts, the Agency has
•

a system of routine monitoring of capacity by Assistant Directors for the allocation of cases within
available guardian ad litem resources utilising the NIGALA electronic case load weighting system.

•

transferred funding from two administration posts to fund additional front line guardian ad litem
delivery of service.

•

reviewed with representatives of the Northern Ireland Family Law Judiciary the options for
maximisation of efficiency in the delivery of service consistent with the DHSSPS efficiency agenda.

•

regularly communicated with the judiciary and the DHSSPS regarding the current work load
pressures affecting the Agency.

•

monitored the Judicial Guide to Case Management (introduced October 2009) and its
implementation which has included regular reviews of operation by the NIGALA Board.

•

prepared six monthly case trends reports for Senior Management, the Board, the Social Care
Governance Committee and the DHSSPS which have included benchmarking performance with the
Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS) in England and Wales.

In terms of the Agency’s recruitment and selection process, policies are based on the principle of
equality of opportunity and controls are in place to ensure that all such decisions are taken in accordance
with the relevant legislation
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Capacity to Handle Risk
The Executive Director has overall responsibility to the Board for risk management. The Corporate
Services Manager assisted by an Assistant Director (Professional Side), is responsible for maintenance
of the risk management framework. The risk management framework now forms the basis for systematic
review by the management team and the Board.
All new and existing risks identified are assessed in terms of identifying ‘causal factors’ and scoring.
The top five risks are reviewed on a monthly basis at the Management Team meeting to determine the
consequences to the organisation in terms of a negative impact or the likelihood of such an event. At
each Audit Committee a complete list of corporate risks and relevant controls is tabled as a report.
The embedding of risk management within the Agency is carried out in the following ways:•

the full risk register is formally reviewed quarterly at each risk management meeting

•

the Agency’s risk register is ‘live’ on Datix (a software for supporting risk management) and the top 5
risks are reviewed by the management team on a monthly basis

•

awareness and training initiatives on risk management have been undertaken for all staff- for example,
the training module ‘models of risk assessment’ was conducted in September 2011 for all professional
staff

•

risk management, adverse incident and complaints awareness training now form part of the induction
programme for new staff

•

risk management is a standing item on the agenda of each Audit Committee (this includes a report
on the risk registers and action plan progress)

•

the Board receives an annual progress report on risk management

•

the top five corporate risks are communicated to all staff via the six monthly Agency newsletter

•

trend analysis reports are brought to each meeting of the Agency’s Risk Management Committee
and improvements to service delivery are developed through actions on lessons learned

•

there is a direct link between managements Risk Committee and the Social Care Governance
Committee which identifies possible risks impacting on the professional service delivered by
NIGALA having taken account of the views of the judiciary and the children who are subjects of
proceedings.
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The Risk and Control Framework
The Agency Audit Committee has carried out a range of work which has included the review and
monitoring of the risk management registers, risk assurance framework and risk action plans including
routine review of the Internal Audit progress reports.
The Agency has been engaged in a programme of work to develop a risk management system in
compliance with the core Controls Assurance Standards. An action plan has been drawn up and is
reviewed regularly by the Audit Committee and annually by Internal Audit.
In terms of professional risk, during the course of 2011/12, the Agency was exposed once again to
unprecedented workload demand from the courts culminating in an increase of 14% in new appointments
of guardians ad litem by the courts when compared with 2010/11. Appointments in Care applications are
generally the most complex work which a guardian ad litem must undertake. As a result primarily of the
impact of the Baby Peter Connolly case in England there has been a dramatic increase in Care Applications
in recent years. Appointments in care cases have grown by 103% between 1st April 2007 to 31st March
2012. The risk to delivery of the service has been categorised as ‘extreme’, and the timely instigation of a
number of controls including a Board approved waiting list in April 2011 provided assurance to the Audit
Committee and Board, that the risk could be managed to an extent within current resources.
In terms of information risk, the Agency deals directly with sensitive personal client information and this
has remained as a high risk on the corporate risk register and kept under review at least monthly by the
management team and quarterly by the NIGALA Information Governance Committee. The Agency has
implemented a range of actions to ensure the security of personal client information and to mitigate any
risk of personal data loss within the Agency as follows;
•

implementation of an electronic case tracking system which became operational in January 2012

•

quarterly review of information governance arrangements within the Agency by the Information
Governance Committee

•

the regular review of the information governance action plan by management and the Information
Governance Committee

•

implementation of the information governance framework, data protection policy and clear desk/clear
screen policy

•

a survey of all Children’s Panel Solicitors information governance arrangements as part of the
development of joint data access agreement between NIGALA and each Law Society Panel Solicitor

In relation to payments in respect of Litigation and Legal Services, the Agency controls, put in place by
management are robust and operating effectively and comply with the DHSSPS Circular HSS F 672006. The Agency also appoints solicitors from the Northern Ireland Law Societies Children’s Panel
to represent children under the Children (NI) Order 1995. All payments in respect of these cases are
managed through the Legal Services Commission Legal Aid Regulations.
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The Agency has assessed its compliance with the applicable Controls Assurance Standards which were
defined by the Department and against which a degree of progress is expected in 2011/12. Action plans
are kept under review for all relevant controls assurance standards and the following table outlines the
current assessment score for each standard during 2011/12.

Health and Safety

NIGALA Compliance DHSSPS Indicator
% Rating 2011/12
2011/12
75% - 99%
94%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
94%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
95%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
88%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
94%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
96%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
76%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
88%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
95%
(Substantive)

Buildings, Land, Plant and non
medical equipment

89%

Waste Management

98%

Emergency Planning

77%

Environmental Management

94%

Purchasing and Supply

99%

Research Governance

78%

Controls Assurance Standard
Risk Management
(core standard)
Governance
(core standard)
Financial Management
(core standard)
Records Management
Security Management
Fire Safety
Information, Communication and Technology
Human Resources

75% - 99%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
(Substantive)
75% - 99%
(Substantive)

Internal Auditor
Assessments

NIGALA’s
assessment
verified by Internal
Audit 11/12

Not Reviewed by
Internal Audit in
11/12

Indicator Table of compliance
0 : Negligible 1-29 : Minimal 30 - 74 : Moderate 75 – 99 : Substantive 100 : Full
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Standards which have been assessed as not applicable to the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem
Agency are as follows:
• Food Hygiene
• Decontamination of Medical Devices
• Environmental Cleanliness
• Fleet and Transport Management
• Infection Control
• Medical Devices and Equipment Management
• Medicines Management

Review of Effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for the review of effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditor, by the senior managers within the Agency who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control framework and by the views expressed in the external auditor’s
report to those charged with governance and other reports. I have been advised on the implications
of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, Audit
Committee, Social Care Governance Committee and Risk Management Committee. Plans to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement to the system are in place.
In maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control, the Board has put in place
a schedule of reports of varying frequency covering areas such as Finance, Performance, Health and
Safety, Social Care Governance, Equality, Risk Management, Comments, Compliments and Complaints,
Professional Issues and Personal and Public Involvement. These reports are integrated within the Risk
Assurance Framework and keep the Board up to date with performance against set targets, planned
developments and progress on the risk management action plan. Similarly the Audit Committee receives
an annual risk management progress report outlining compliance against the set standards expected by
the DHSSPS.
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Significant Internal Issues
Current Year
NIGALA’s internal audit process is conducted by the Business Services Organisation (HSC Shared
Services Body) which reports directly to the Executive Director and Audit Committee. Each year an
annual report is delivered by the internal auditor to the Audit Committee providing an objective opinion
on the control framework within the Agency. The Internal Auditor has confirmed a satisfactory level of
assurance with no significant internal control issues highlighted.
I remain alert to the significant issue of the implications of the increasing levels of caseload in the
coming year, which will continue to be notified to the DHSSPS and will be monitored regularly. As
necessary, risk to the guardian ad litem service from this source will be brought to the attention of all key
stakeholders with a view to appropriate action being taken.
Prior Year
In terms of prior year significant control issues, the Agency is anticipating a further increase in public law
applications in the next financial year. In addition to the Business Plan for 2012/13 an additional business
case is now being made to the DHSSPS to manage workload in a demand-led environment.
Hence I am assured that the controls within the Agency are adequate and effective and where
weaknesses have been identified, action plans have been put in place.

5th July 2012
_________________________________			Date: _______________________
Mr R H Williamson							
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
THE CERTIFICATE AND REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL
TO THE NORTHERN IRELAND ASSEMBLY
I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Northern Ireland Guardian ad
Litem Agency for the year ended 31 March 2012 under the Health and Personal Social
Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972, as amended. These comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayers' Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes. These
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out within them. I
have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is described in that report
as having been audited.
Respective responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency's
Responsibilities and Executive Director's Responsibilities, the Northern Ireland Guardian ad
Litem Agency is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland)
Order 1972, as amended. I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment
of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Northern Ireland Guardian ad
Litem Agency's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Northern
Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition I read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If I become aware of
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my
certificate.
In addition, I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by the Assembly and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Opinion on Regularity
In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the
purposes intended by the Assembly and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Opinion on financial statements
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In my opinion:
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Northern Ireland
Guardian ad Litem Agency's affairs as at 31 March 2012 and of the net expenditure,
cash flows and changes in taxpayers' equity for the year then ended; and

•

the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health
and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972, as amended and
Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety directions issued
thereunder.

Opinion on other matters
In my opinion:
•

the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety directions
made under the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972,
as amended; and

•

the information given in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which I report by exception
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my
opinion:
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept; or
the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited are
not in agreement with the accounting records; or
I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or
the Statement on Internal Control does not reflect compliance with Department of
Finance and Personnel's guidance.

Report
I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

KJ Donnelly
Comptroller and Auditor General
Northern Ireland Audit Office
106 University Street
Belfast
BT71EU
27 July 2012
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The notes on pages 97-132 form part of these accounts
The notes on pages 115-151 form part of these accounts
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The notes on pages 97-132 form part of these accounts
…………………………………….Chairman

5th July 2012
……………………..…Date

5th July 2012
……………………………………..Executive Director………………………..Date
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The notes on pages 97-132 form part of these accounts
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.

Authority
These accounts have been prepared in a form determined by the Department of Health, Social
Services and Public Safety based on guidance from the Department of Finance and Personnel’s
Financial Reporting manual (FReM) and in accordance with the requirements of Article 90(2)(a)
of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972 No 1265 (NI 14) as
amended by Article 6 of the Audit and Accountability (Northern Ireland) Order 2003.
The accounting policies follow IFRS to the extent that it is meaningful and appropriate to the
Northern Ireland Guardian Ad Litem Agency (the Agency). Where a choice of accounting
policy is permitted, the accounting policy which has been judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the Agency for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The Agency’s accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items
considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account
for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

1.2

Currency
These accounts are presented in UK Pounds sterling.

1.3

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment assets comprise Land, Buildings, Dwellings, Transport Equipment, Plant & Machinery, Information Technology, Furniture & Fittings, and Assets under
construction.
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment must be capitalised if:
•● it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
•● it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied  
to, the Agency;
•● it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
•● the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
•● the item has cost of at least £5,000; or
•● collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost
of more than £1,000, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly
simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are
under single managerial control; or
• items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit,
irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
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On initial recognition property, plant and equipment are measured at cost including any
expenditure such as installation, directly attributable to bringing them into working condition.
Items classified as “under construction” are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position to
the extent that money has been paid or a liability has been incurred.
Valuation of Land and Buildings
Land and buildings are carried at the last professional valuation, in accordance with the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (Statement of Assets Valuation Practice) Appraisal and
Valuation Standards in so far as these are consistent with the specific needs of the HSC.
The last valuation was carried out on 31 January 2010 by Land and Property Services (LPS)
which is an independent executive within the Department of Finance and Personnel. The
valuers are qualified to meet the ‘Member of Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ (MRICS)
standard.
Professional revaluations of land and buildings are undertaken at least once in every five year
period and are revalued annually, between professional valuations, using indices provided by LPS.
Land and buildings used for the Agency’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in
the Statement of Financial Position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Fair values are determined as follows:
•● Land and non-specialised buildings – open market value for existing use
•   Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost
•   Properties surplus to requirements – the lower of open market value less any material
directly attributable selling costs, or book value at the date of moving to non current assets.
Modern Equivalent Asset
DFP has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on
modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service
being provided, an alternative site can be valued. Land and Property Services (LPS) have
included this requirement within the latest valuation.
Assets Under Construction (AUC)
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at
cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees as allowed by IAS 23 for assets
held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought
into use.
Short Life Assets
Short life assets are not indexed. Short life is defined as a useful life of up to and including 5
years. Short life assets are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be
materially different from fair value and are depreciated over their useful life.
Where estimated life of fixtures and equipment exceed 5 years, suitable indices will be applied
each year and depreciation will be based on indexed amount.
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Revaluation Reserve
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the Revaluation Reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is
credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease is recognised as an impairment charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that
there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
1.4

Depreciation
No depreciation is provided on freehold land since land has unlimited or a very long established
useful life. Items under construction are not depreciated until they are commissioned. Properties that are surplus to requirements and which meet the definition of “non current assets held
for sale “ are also not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful
lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of
the assets. Assets held under finance leases are also depreciated over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Agency expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. Estimated useful lives and residual
values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective
basis. The following asset lives have been used.
Asset Type
Freehold Buildings
Leasehold property
IT Assets
Intangible assets
Other Equipment

1.5

Asset Life
25 – 60 years
Remaining period of lease
3 – 10 years
3 – 10 years
3 – 15 years

Impairment loss
If there has been an impairment loss due to a general change in prices, the asset is written
down to its recoverable amount, with the loss charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent
that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure within the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. If the impairment is due to the consumption of
economic benefits the full amount of the impairment is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and an amount up to the value of the impairment in the Revaluation
Reserve is transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure Reserve. Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been
determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is
credited firstly to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the Revaluation Reserve.
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Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure which meets the definition
of capital restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any
existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
The overall useful life of the Agency’s buildings takes account of the fact that different components of those buildings have different useful lives. This ensures that depreciation is charged on
those assets at the same rate as if separate components had been identified and depreciated
at different rates.

1.7

Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise software and licences. Software that is integral to the operating
of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of
property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for
example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is
not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
•  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
•  the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
•   the ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
•   how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
•   the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible
asset and sell or use it; and
•   the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its  
development.
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of
sale separately from the rest of the Agency’s business or which arise from contractual or other
legal rights. Intangible assets are considered to have a finite life. They are recognised only when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the
Agency; where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All single items over £5,000 in
value must be capitalised while intangible assets which fall within the grouped asset definition
must be capitalised if their individual value is at least £1,000 each and the group is at least
£5,000 in value.
The amount recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure
incurred from the date of commencement of the intangible asset, until it is complete and ready
for use.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active
market, and as no active market currently exists depreciated replacement cost has been used
as fair value.
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1.8

Donated assets
Donated non-current assets were previously capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a
matching credit to the donated asset reserve. They were valued, depreciated and impaired as
described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations and impairments were
taken to the donated asset reserve and, each year, an amount equal to the depreciation charge
on the asset was released from the donated asset reserve to income to offset the depreciation
expenditure. On sale of donated assets, the net book value was transferred from the donated
asset reserve to the General Reserve.
With effect from 1 April 2011, DFP changed the above policy on donated asset reserves. The
donation reserve no longer exists. What used to be contained in the donated asset reserve
has moved to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure Reserve (previously known
as General Reserve) and to the Revaluation Reserve. Income for donated assets is now recognised when received. This change in accounting policy did not have an impact on the accounts which would require a prior year restatement.

1.9

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. In order to meet this
definition IFRS 5 requires that the asset must be immediately available for sale in its current
condition and that the sale is highly probable. A sale is regarded as highly probable where an
active plan is in place to find a buyer for the asset and the sale is considered likely to be concluded within one year. Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value, less any material directly attributable selling costs. Fair
value is open market value, where one is available, including alternative uses.
Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated.
The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying amount. The profit from sale of land which is a non depreciating asset is
recognised within income. The profit from sale of a depreciating asset is shown as a reduced
expense. The loss from sale of land or from any depreciating assets is shown within operating
expenses. On disposal, the balance for the asset on the Revaluation Reserve is transferred to
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure Reserve.
Property, plant or equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for sale. Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its economic life is
adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when it is scrapped or demolished.

1.10 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. This is considered to be a
reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.
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Income
Operating Income relates directly to the operating activities of the Agency and is recognised
when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Grant in aid
Funding received from other entities, including the Department and the Health and Social Care
Board are accounted for as grant in aid and are reflected through the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure Reserve.

1.12

Investments
The Agency does not have any investments.

1.13

Other expenses
Other operating expenses for goods or services are recognised when, and to the extent that,
they have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.14

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or
less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.

1.15

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
NIGALA as lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments,
with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate
on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Agency’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of
rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated.
Leased land may be either an operating lease or a Finance lease depending on the conditions in
the lease agreement and following the general guidance set out in IAS 17. Leased buildings are
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.
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NIGALA as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount
of the Agency’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Agency’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
1.16 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions
NIGALA had no PFI transactions during the year.
1.17 Financial instruments
•

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the Agency
becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised
when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.

•

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the
Agency becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in
the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial
liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability
has been paid or has expired.
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

•

Financial risk management
IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period
in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the
relationships with HSC Commissioners, and the manner in which they are funded, financial
instruments play a more limited role within HSC bodies in creating risk than would apply
to a non public sector body of a similar size, therefore HSC bodies are not exposed to the
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. HSC bodies have limited powers to
borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day to day
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the HSC bodies in
undertaking activities. Therefore the HSC is exposed too little credit, liquidity or market risk.

•

Currency risk

•

The Agency is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions,
assets and liabilities being in the UK and Sterling based. The Agency has no overseas
operations. The Agency therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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•

Interest rate risk
The Agency has limited powers to borrow or invest and therefore has low exposure to interest
rate fluctuations.

•

Credit risk
Because the majority of the Agency’s income comes from contracts with other public sector
bodies, the Agency has low exposure to credit risk.

•

Liquidity risk
Since the Agency receives the majority of its funding through its principal Commissioner which
is voted through the Assembly, it is therefore not exposed to significant liquidity risks.

1.18 Provisions
In accordance with IAS 37, Provisions are recognised when the Agency has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Agency will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using
DFP’s discount rate of 2.2% in real terms.
The Agency has also disclosed the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the
period, additional provisions made, amounts used during the period, unused amounts
reversed during the period and increases in the discounted amount arising from the
passage of time and the affect of any change in the discount rate.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to
be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a
provision. An onerous contract is considered to exist where the Agency has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received under it.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Agency has developed a detailed formal
plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry
out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct
expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily
entailed by the restructuring and not associated with ongoing activities of the entity.
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1.19 Contingencies
Under IAS 37, the Agency discloses contingent liabilities where there is a possible obligation
that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the Agency, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a
payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a
payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Agency. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present
value.
1.20 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Under the requirements of IAS 19: Employee Benefits, staff costs must be recorded as
an expense as soon as the Agency is obligated to pay them. This includes the cost of any
untaken leave that has been earned at the year end. The cost has been estimated using
average staff numbers and costs applied to the average untaken leave balance determined
from the results of a survey to ascertain leave balances as at 31 March 2008. It is not
anticipated that the level of untaken leave will vary significantly from year to year. Untaken
flexi leave is estimated to be immaterial to the Agency and has not been included.
Retirement benefit costs
The Agency participates in the HSC Superannuation Scheme. Under this multi-employer
defined benefit scheme both the Agency and employees pay specified percentages of pay
into the scheme and the liability to pay benefit falls to the DHSSPS. The Agency is unable
to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on a consistent and
reliable basis. Further information regarding the HSC Superannuation Scheme can be found
in the HSC Superannuation Scheme Statement in the Departmental Resource Account for
the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety.
The costs of early retirements are met by the Agency and charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure at the time the Agency commits itself to the retirement.
As per the requirements of IAS 19, full actuarial valuations by a professionally qualified
actuary are required at intervals not exceeding four years. The actuary reviews the most
recent actuarial valuation at the Statement of Financial Position date and updates it to reflect
current conditions. The 31 March 2008 valuation will be used in the 2011/12 accounts.
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1.21 Reserves
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure Reserve
Accumulated surpluses are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reserve.
Revaluation Reserve
The Revaluation Reserve reflects the unrealised balance of cumulative indexation and revaluation
adjustments to assets.
1.22 Value Added Tax
Where output VAT is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net
of VAT. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in
the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.
1.23 Third party assets
The Agency did not hold any third party assets at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March
2011.
1.24 Government Grants
The Agency did not receive any Government Grants in either the year ended 31 March
2012 or year ended 31 March 2011.
1.25 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that the Assembly would not have contemplated
when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they
are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure
on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance
cover had HSC bodies not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure). However, the note on losses and special payments
is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which reports amounts on an
accruals basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
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1.26 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
Under IAS 8 there is a requirement to disclose those standards issued but not yet adopted.
Management has reviewed the new accounting policies that have been issued but are not yet 		
effective, nor adopted early for these accounts. Management consider that these are unlikely to 		
have a significant impact on the accounts in the period of the initial application.
1.27 Change in Accounting policy / Prior Year Reclassification
There were two changes in Accounting policy during the year, as advised by the Department of
Health, Social Services and Public Safety within their accounts direction.. The prior year figures
have been changed in the accounts (where material) to reflect the changes in accounting policy.
The changes were:
(i) Removal of Donation and Government Grant Reserves
The Agency did not have a donation or government grant reserve therefore no adjustment has
been made.
(ii) Reclassification of Trade and Other Payables within Note 14
Changes in trade and other payables classification have taken place during the year following a
review of prior year classifications. In respect of the changes in trade and other payables classifications comparative figures (as outlined below), have been restated in line with the requirements of
the IAS 1.
The total 2010/11 trade and other payables balance disclosed remains consistent with the prior
year financial statements. However, the classification of a number of prior year line items have been
restated to improve comparability within the current year financial statements.
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The tables below shows the effect of the above prior year adjustment
2011 Revised
Trade Payables and Other
Current Liabilities
Trade capital payables - property,
plant and equipment

£

2011 Prior 2011 Differences
£

£

24,485

-

24,485

Trade capital payables - intangibles

9,500

-

9,500

Trade revenue payables

4,405

520,512

516,107

BSO payables

303,371

-

303,371

Accruals and deferred income

178,751

-

178,751

Total

520,512

520,512

-

NIGALA | Annual Report | 2011-2012

NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
ANALYSIS OF NET EXPENDITURE BY SEGMENT
NOTE 2

The core business and strategic direction of the Northern Ireland Guardian ad Litem Agency is
to act as a ‘voice’ for children who are subjects of public law and adoption proceedings before the
courts in Northern Ireland.
The Agency Board acts as the Chief Operating Decision Maker and receives financial information on
the Agency as a whole and makes decisions on this basis. Hence, it is appropriate that the Agency
reports on a single operational segment basis.
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 3 STAFF NUMBERS AND RELATED COSTS

3.1 Staff Costs
Staff costs comprise

Wages & Salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Sub-Total
Capitalised staff costs
Total staff costs reported in Statement of
Comprehensive Expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of outward
secondments
Total net costs

2012

2011

Total
£
2,369,572
181,117
300,400
2,851,089
-

Permanently
employed staff
£
2,348,897
181,117
300,400
2,830,414
-

Others
£
20,675
20,675
-

Total
£
2,265,625
165,409
293,345
2,724,379
-

2,851,089

2,830,414

20,675

2,724,379

-

-

2,851,089

2,724,379

Staff costs charged to capital projects during the year were £Nil (2011 £Nil).
The Agency participates in the HSC Superannuation Scheme. Under this multi-employer defined
benefit scheme both the HSC and employees pay specified percentages of pay into the scheme
and the liability to pay benefit falls to the DHSSPS. The Agency is unable to identify its share of the
underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on a consistent and reliable basis.
As per the requirements of IAS 19, full actuarial valuations by a professionally qualified actuary
are required at intervals not exceeding four years. The actuary reviews the most recent actuarial
valuation at the Statement of Financial Position date and updates it to reflect current conditions. A
full valuation as at 31 March 2008 was completed in 2010/11.
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
3.2

Average number of persons employed

The average number of whole time equivalent persons employed during the year was as follows;

Total
No.
Medical and dental
Nursing and Midwifery
Professions Allied to medicine
Ancillaries
Administrative and Clerical
Ambulance staff
Works
Other professional and technical
Social Services
Other
Total average number of persons employed
Less average staff number relating to capitalised
staff costs
Less average staff number in respect of outward
secondments
Total net average number of persons employed

2012
Permanently
employed staff Others
No.
No.

2011
Total
No.

24
37
61

24
37
61

-

24
35
59

-

-

-

-

61

61

-

59
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 3 STAFF NUMBERS AND RELATED COSTS
3.3 Senior Employees’ Remuneration
Refer to Remuneration Report contained within the Annual Report section on page 42.
3.4 Reporting of early retirement and other compensation scheme – exit packages
* Number of compulsory * Number of other
Exit package cost band redundancies
departures agreed

Total number of exit
packages cost band

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

<£10,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£10,000 - £25,000

-

-

1

-

1

-

£25,000 - £50,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£50,000 - £100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£100,000 - £150,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£150,000 - £200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

>£200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total number of exit
packages by type

-

-

1

-

1

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

-

-

15

-

15

-

Total resource cost

The ex-gratia payment above was agreed with DHSSPS and DFP and is not a cost on the
HSC Pension Scheme.
3.5

Staff Benefits

NIGALA had no staff benefits in 2011/12 and 2010/11
3.6

Retirements due to ill-health

During 2011/12 there were no early retirements from the Agency agreed on the grounds of
ill-health.
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 4 OPERATING EXPENSES
4.0

Operating Expenses are as follows:-

Fees – Self Employed Guardians
Recharges from other HSC organisations
Supplies and services – general
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Miscellaneous

2012
£
280,019
77,575
8,161
271,291
270,461
4,700

2011
£
299,754
79,834
10,302
233,607
331,716
11,912

41,946
40,999
-

35,731
40,762
-

-

-

-

-

8,560

8,376

1,003,712

1,051,994

Non cash items
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments
(Profit) on disposal of property, plant & equipment
(excluding profit on land)
(Profit) on disposal of intangibles
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment
(including land)
Loss on disposal of intangibles
Provisions provided for in period
Cost of borrowing of provisions
(borrowing costs on provisions)
Auditors remuneration
Total

During the period the Agency purchased no non audit services from its external auditor (NIAO)
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 5 INCOME
5.1 Income from Activities
The Agency had no income from activities in 2011/12 and 2010/11
5.2 Other Operating Income

Other income from non-patient services
Seconded staff
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Donations/ Government grant/ Lottery funding for non current
assets
Profit on disposal of land
Interest receivable
Total

5.3 Deferred income
The Agency had no deferred income in 2011/12 and 2010/11

2012
£
10,469
-

2011
£
-

10,469

-

399,025

-

Depreciation
At 1 April 2011
Indexation
Reclassifications
Transfers
Revaluation
(Impairments)
Reversal of impairments (indexation)
(Disposals)
Provided during the year
At 31 March 2012
269,340
9,839
22,866
302,045

384,962
14,063
-

-

£

Cost or Valuation
At 1 April 2011
Indexation
Additions
Donations/Government Grant/Lottery
funding
Reclassifications
Transfers
Revaluation
(Impairments)
Reversal of impairments (indexation)
(Disposals)
At 31 March 2012

Land
£

Assets

Plant and

£

-

-

-

-

£

-

-

-

-

£

37,878
4,569
42,447

51,584

-

51,584
-

£

-

-

-

-

£

56,980
14,511
71,491

155,650

-

100,840
54,810

£

-

-

-

-

Information Furniture

under
(excluding
Machinery Transport Technology and
dwellings) Dwellings Construction (Equipment) Equipment (IT)
Fittings

Buildings

NOTE 6.1 Property, plant & equipment – year ended 31 March 2012

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY

364,198
9,839
41,946
415,983

606,259

-

537,386
14,063
54,810

Total
£
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-

96,980
-

96,980

-

-

-

-

115,622

-

-

-

-

-

9,137

-

9,137
-

13,706

9,137

-

-

-

-

-

84,159

-

84,159
-

43,860

84,159

-

-

-

-

-

190,276

The fair value of assets funded from Donations / Government grant / Lottery funding during the year was £Nil (2011: £Nil)

-

190,276
-

173,188

190,276

Information
Technology Furniture
(IT)
and Fittings Total
£
£
£

The total amount of depreciation charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure in respect of assets held under finance leases and
hire purchase contracts is £Nil (2011: £Nil)

Owned
Finance Leased
On SOFP PFI contracts
and other service concession arrangement
contracts
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2012

-

96,980

Plant and
Assets under Machinery Transport
Dwellings Construction (Equipment) Equipment
£
£
£
£

-

-

At 31 March 2011

Asset financing

-

At 31 March 2012

Carrying amount

Land
£

Buildings
(excluding
dwellings)
£

NOTE 6.1 (continued) Property, plant & equipment - year ended 31 March 2012

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
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-

-

32,894
4,984
37,878

-

Depreciation
At 1 April 2010
Indexation
Reclassifications
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairments
Reversal of impairments (indexation)
Disposals
Provided during the year
At 31 March 2011
246,005
23,335
269,340

-

51,584

-

-

51,584
-

Plant and
Machinery Transport
(Equipment) Equipment
£
£

NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 6.2 Property, plant & equipment - year ended 31 March 2011
Buildings
Assets
(excluding
under
Land dwellings) Dwellings Construction
£
£
£
£
Cost or Valuation
At 1 April 2010
379,886
Indexation
5,076
Additions
Donations/Government grant/Lottery funding
Reclassifications
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairments
Reversal of impairments (indexation)
(Disposals)
At 31 March 2011
384,962
99,308
(49,740)
7,412
56,980

(49,740)
100,840

123,962
26,618

555,432
5,076
26,618

- 378,207
- (49,740)
35,731
- 364,198

- (49,740)
- 537,386

-

Information
Technology Furniture
(IT)
and Fittings Total
£
£
£
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Asset financing
Owned
Finance Leased
On SOFP PFI and other
service concession
arrangement contracts
Carrying amount
At 1 April 2010

-

115,622

-

115,622

-

-

-

133,881
-

133,881

-

-

-

-

-

115,622
-

-

-

133,881

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

18,690

-

18,690
-

13,706

-

13,706
-

13,706

18,690

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

24,654

-

24,654
-

43,860

-

43,860
-

43,860

24,654

Plant and
Information
Assets under Machinery Transport Technology Furniture
Dwellings Construction (Equipment) Equipment (IT)
and Fittings
£
£
£
£
£
£

-

-

At 31 March 2011

Asset financing
Owned
Finance Leased
On SOFP PFI and other
service concession
arrangement contracts
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2011

-

At 1 April 2010

Carrying amount

Buildings
(excluding
Land dwellings)
£
£

NOTE 6.2 (continued) Property, plant & equipment – year ended 31 March 2011

NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

-

- 177,225

-

- 177,225
-

- 173,188

-

- 173,188
-

- 173,188

- 177,225

Total
£
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 7.1 INTANGIBLE ASSETS – year ended 31 March 2012

Cost or Valuation

Software

Software Licenses

Total

£

£

£

At 1 April 2011
Indexation
Additions
Donations / Government grant
/ Lottery funding
Reclassifications
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairments
Disposals

272,500
3,495

1,895

272,500
5,390

-

-

-

At 31 March 2012

275,995

1,895

277,890

Amortisation
At 1 April 2011
Indexation
Reclassifications
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairments
Disposals
Provided during the year

145,751
40,882

117

145,751
40,999

At 31 March 2012

186,633

117

186,750

Carrying amount:
At 31 March 2012

89,362

1,778

91,140

At 31 March 2011

126,749

-

126,749

89,245
-

1,895
-

91,140
-

-

-

-

89,245

1,895

91,140

Asset financing
Owned
Finance Leased
On SOFP PFI and other service concession arrangement
contracts
Carrying amount:
At 31 March 2012

The fair value of assets funded from Donations / Government Grants / Lottery funding
during the year was £Nil (2011: £Nil)
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 7.2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS – year ended 31 March 2012
Cost or Valuation

Software

Software Licenses

Total

£

£

£

At 1 April 2010
Indexation
Additions
Donations / Government grant / Lottery funding
Reclassifications
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairments
Disposals

200,759
22,001
49,740
-

-

200,759
22,001
49,740
-

At 31 March 2011

272,500

-

272,500

55,249
49,740
40,762

-

55,249
49,740
40,762

At 31 March 2011

145,751

-

145,751

Carrying amount:
At 1 April 2010

145,510

-

145,510

At 31 March 2011

126,749

-

126,749

126,749
-

-

126,749
-

-

-

-

126,749

-

126,749

145,510
-

-

145,510
-

-

-

-

145,510

-

145,510

Amortisation
At 1 April 2010
Indexation
Reclassifications
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairments
Disposals
Provided during the year

Carrying amount:
Owned
Finance Leased
On SOFP PFI and other service concession arrangement
contracts
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2011
Carrying amount:
Owned
Finance Leased
On SOFP PFI and other service concession arrangement
contracts
Net Book Value
At 1 April 2010
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NOTE 8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Agency had no financial instruments as at 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.

NOTE 9 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
The Agency did not hold any assets classified as held for sale in 2011/12 or 2010/11

NOTE 10 IMPAIRMENTS
The Agency had no impairments in either 2011/12 or 2010/11.

NOTE 11 INVENTORIES
2012
£

2011
£

Office supplies

500

500

Total
		

500

500

Classification
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 12 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2012
£
Amounts falling due within one year
Trade receivables
Deposits and advances
VAT receivable
Other receivables – not relating to fixed assets
Other receivables – relating to property, plant and equipment
Other receivables – relating to intangibles
Trade and other receivables

2011
£

19,195
19,195

19,110
19,110

3,787

16,898

3,787

16,898

Trade receivables
Deposits and advances
Other receivables
Trade and other receivables

-

-

Prepayments and accrued income

-

-

Other current assets falling due after more than one year

-

-

19,195

19,110

3,787

16,898

22,982

36,008

Prepayments and accrued income
Current part of PFI and other service concession
arrangements prepayment
Other current assets
Amounts falling due after more than one year

TOTAL TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
TOTAL OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

The Agency had no bad debts at 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.

22,982
22,982

Total Receivables and other current assets at 31 March

-

Intra-Government Balances

Balances with bodies external to government

-

Name
Balances with other central government bodies
Balances with local authorities
Balances with NHS /HSC Trusts
Balances with public corporations and trading funds

36,008

36,008

-

-

Amounts
Amounts
Amounts fallfalling due falling due ing due after
within 1 year within 1 yearmore than 1 year
2011/12
2010/11
2011/12
£
£
£

12.1 Trade receivables and other current assets: Intra-Government balances

NOTE 12 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY

-

-

-

-

Amounts
falling due
after more
than 1 year
2010/11
£

-

-

-

-
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Balance at 1st April
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

2012
£
414,118
(74,901)

2011
£
972
413,146

Balance at 31st March

339,217

414,118

The following balances at 31 March were held at
Commercial Banks and cash in hand

2012
£
339,217

2011
£
414,118

Balance as at 31 March

339,217

414,118

The bank account is operated by Business Services Organisation (BSO) on behalf of NIGALA.
The account is in the legal name of the BSO.
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 14 TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Restated
2011
£

2012
£
Amounts falling due within one year
Other taxation and social security
VAT payable
Bank overdraft
Trade capital payables – property, plant and equipment
Trade capital payables - intangibles
Trade revenue payables
Payroll payables
RPA payables
BSO payables
Other payables
Accruals and deferred income
Accruals and deferred income – relating to property, plant and equipment
Accruals and deferred income – relating to intangibles
Trade and other payables
Current part of finance leases
Current part of long term loans
Current part of imputed finance lease element of on Statement of Financial
Position PFI and other service concession arrangements contracts
Other current liabilities
Total payables falling due within one year
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Other payables, accruals and deferred income
Trade and other payables
Finance leases
Imputed finance lease element of on Statement of Financial Position PFI and
other service concession arrangements contracts
Long term loans
Total non current other payables
TOTAL TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

528
1,118
36,851
571,366
204,333
814,196

24,485
9,500
4,405
303,371
178,751
520,512

-

-

-

-

814,196

520,512

-

-

-

-

814,196

520,512

217,141
520,512

242,830
814,196

Balances with bodies external to government

Total Payables and other liabilities at 31 March

303,371

571,366

Intra-Government Balances

303,371
-

571,366
-

Name
Balances with other central government bodies
Balances with local authorities
Balances with NHS /HSC Trusts
Balances with public corporations and trading funds

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Amounts falling Amounts falling
Amounts
falling due
Amounts falling due after more due after more
than 1 year
than 1 year
within 1 year due within 1 year
2010/11
2011/12
2010/11
2011/12
£
£
£
£

14.1 Trade payables and other current liabilities - Intra-government balances

NOTE 14 TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 14 TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

14.2. Loans
The Agency did not have any loans payable at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.

NOTE 15 PROMPT PAYMENT POLICY
15.1 Public Sector Payment Policy - Measure of Compliance
The Department requires that HSC pay their non HSC trade creditors in accordance with the
Better Payments Practice Code and Government Accounting Rules. The Agency’s payment policy
is consistent with the Better Payments Practice Code and Government Accounting rules and its
measure of compliance is:
2012
Number

2012
Value
£’000

2011
Number

2011
Value
£’000

Total bills paid

555

574

698

869

Total bills paid within 30 day target or under
agreed payment terms

548

567

668

800

% of bills paid within 30 day target or under
agreed payment terms

98.7%

98.7%

95.7%

92.1%

15.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2002
The amount included within Interest Payable arising from claims made by small businesses under
this legislation are as follows :
£
Total

-

NOTE 16 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
The Agency had no provisions for liabilities and charges at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 17 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Agency had no capital commitments at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.

NOTE 18 COMMITMENTS UNDER LEASES
18.1

Operating Leases

Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given in the table below
for each of the following periods.
2012
2011
Obligations under operating leases comprise
£
£
Land & Buildings
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

36,099 34,591
37,013 27,463
73,112 62,054

Other
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

18.2

-

Finance Leases

The Agency had no Finance leases at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.
18.3

Operating Leases: Commitments under Lessor Agreements

The Agency had not issued any operating leases at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March
2011.

-
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 19 COMMITMENTS UNDER PFI CONTRACTS AND OTHER SERVICE CONCESSION
ARRANGEMENT CONTRACTS
The Agency had no commitments under PFI Schemes at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.
NOTE 20 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
The Agency did not have any other financial commitments at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.
NOTE 21 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES, INDEMNITIES AND LETTERS OF COMFORT
The Agency did not have any financial instruments at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011
NOTE 22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Agency did not have any contingent liabilities at either 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011.
NOTE 23 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
NIGALA is an arms length body of the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety and
as such the Department is a related party with which the Agency has had various material transactions
during the year. In addition there were material transactions throughout the year with the Business
Services Organisation who are a related party by virtue of being an arms length body with the
Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety.
During the year, none of the Board members, members of the key management staff or other related
parties has undertaken any material transactions with the NIGALA.

NOTE 24 THIRD PARTY ASSETS
NIGALA holds no assets on behalf of third parties.
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
NOTE 25 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS
25.1 Revenue Resource Limit
The Agency is given a Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) which it is not permitted to overspend
The Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) for the Agency is calculated as follows:
2012
Total
£
HSCB
PHA
SUMDE & NIMDTA
DHSSPS (excludes non cash)
Other Government Departments
Non cash RRL (from DHSSPS)
Adjustment for Income received re
Donations/ Government grant/Lottery
Total Revenue Resource Limit to Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure

2011
Total
£

3,754,812 3,693,477
91,505
85,845

-

-

3,846,317 3,779,322

25.2 Capital Resource Limit
The Agency is given a Capital Resource Limit (CRL) which it is not permitted to overspend.
2012
£

2011
£

Gross Capital Expenditure
(Receipts from sales of fixed assets)
Net capital expenditure

60,200
60,200

48,619
48,619

Capital Resource Limit

60,632

50,000

(432)

(1,381)

Overspend/(Underspend) against CRL
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NORTHERN IRELAND GUARDIAN AD LITEM AGENCY
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25.3 Financial Performance Targets
The Agency is required to ensure that it breaks even on an annual basis by
containing its net expenditure within +/-0.25% of RRL limits, or £20,000, whichever
is greater.
2011/12
£

2010/11
£

Net Expenditure

(3,844,332) (3,776,373)

RRL

3,846,317

3,779,322

Surplus/(Deficit) against RRL

1,985

2,949

Break Even cumulative position(opening)

3,595

646

Break Even cumulative position (closing)

5,580

3,595

2011/12
%

2010/11
%

Break Even in year position as % of RRL

0.05%

0.08%

Break Even cumulative position as % of RRL

0.15%

0.10%

Materiality Test:
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NOTE 26 LOSSES & SPECIAL PAYMENTS
TYPE OF LOSS
1
2
3
4

5
6

7
8
9
10
11

12
13
14
15

Cash Losses - Theft, fraud etc
Cash Losses - Overpayments of salaries, wages and allowances
Cash Losses - Other causes (including unvouched and incompletely
vouched payments)
Nugatory and fruitless payments
i. Abandoned capital schemes
ii. Late payment of Commercial Debt
iii. Other
Bad debts and claims abandoned
Stores and Inventory Losses - Theft, fraud, arson (whether proved or
suspected) etc
i. Bedding and linen
ii. Other equipment and property
Stores and Inventory Losses - Incidents of the service (result of fire,
flood, etc)
Stores and Inventory Losses - Deterioration in store
Stores and Inventory Losses - Stocktaking discrepancies
Stores and Inventory Losses - Other causes
i. Bedding and linen
ii. Other equipment and property
Compensation payments (legal obligation)
i. Clinical Negligence
ii. Public Liability
iii. Employers Liability
Ex-gratia payments - Compensation payments (including payments to
patients and staff)
Ex-gratia payments - Other payments
Extra statutory payments
a. Losses sustained as a result of damage to buildings and fixtures
arising from bomb explosions or civil commotion.
b. Damage to vehicles
TOTAL

NO. OF
CASES
-

VALUE
£
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

15,000

-

-

-

-

1

15,000

26.1 Special Payments
There was one special payment made during the year with DHSSPS and DFP approval granted
NOTE 27 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
There are no post balance events having a material effect on the accounts.
NOTE 28 DATE AUTHORISED FOR ISSUE
The Accounting Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 5th July 2012
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Appendix 3 - GAL Profiles
Name
Alison Allenby

Profile
Appointed to the Agency in September 2000. Alison was previously employed
by Wakefield Local Authority in England for five years where she gained
experience in working with children and families at both social worker and
senior practitioner levels. Following this, Alison worked for Homefirst HSST in
a family placement team for a year focusing on fostering and adoption issues.

Angela Sloane

Appointed to the Agency in September 2000. Angela was previously
employed by Newry & Mourne HSST where she had 16 years experience
working with children and families both as a practitioner and manager in family
and child care.
Appointed to the Agency in 1999. Ann qualified in 1988 and worked in a
variety of family and childcare settings in South and East Belfast HSS Trust.
Ann has a special interest in training, practice teaching and mental health.
She completed her Postgraduate Diploma in Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
in July 2008 and is a member of the British Association of Behavioural and
Cognitive Psychotherapists. Ann is a part-time Tutor for Final Year Social
Work students at Queens University Belfast.
Appointed to the Agency in April 2002. Anne qualified in 1994 and worked
in Homefirst HSST for 8 years as a social worker and senior social worker
within family and child care.
Appointed to the Agency in July 2003. Anne previously worked for North and
West Belfast HSST for 14 years. She has worked with children and families
in the Family Centre, Fostering and Adoption Team and the Looked after
Children’s Team.
Appointed to the Agency in October 1996 before which Attracta had 26
years experience working with children and their families both in Foyle
HSST and with NSPCC where she had developed an interest in working
therapeutically with children who had been sexually abused. Since joining
the Agency she has completed accredited training in attachment theory and
assessment at University of East Anglia and accredited training in Family
Mediation. Attracta is now a member of the NIGALA self employed panel
from 1st April 2011.
Appointed to the Agency in December 1999. Bernie previously worked in
Causeway HSST for 8 years within family and child care and prior to that
with Homefirst Community HSST. Before qualifying as a social worker she
worked in the field of youth and community work. Bernie gained her Northern
Ireland Specialist Award (Child Care) in 2009 and the Masters in Applied
Social Studies in 2010.
Appointed to the Agency in 1997 Brenda has over 20 years experience
working with children and families. She recently completed attachment
training (accredited at Masters level) at the University of East Anglia and is
currently undertaking an MSc in Applied Social Studies (CBT) at the Queens
University of Belfast.

Ann Hopkins

Anne Christie

Anne Gervin

Attracta Reid

Bernie Martin

Brenda Sheeran
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Name
Breige Savage

Profile
Appointed to the Agency in May 2011. Breige qualified as a social worker in
1996 and has worked exclusively in children’s services both as a practitioner
and Senior Social Worker in the Southern HSST. She has a particular interest
in Adoption and Permanency Planning for Looked after Children.

Carole Harvey

Appointed to the Agency in November 2007. Carole qualified as a social
worker in 1989 and has worked for South and East Belfast Trust in Learning
Disability, Mental Health and Child Protection, the latter as social worker and
Team Leader.
Appointed to the Agency in November 1997. Cathy qualified in 1986
and worked within various programmes of care including family and child
care and physical health and disability. In July 2009, Cathy was awarded
the Postgraduate Diploma in Child Forensic Studies: Psychology & Law
(University of Portsmouth). Cathy has a special interest in the participation of
children in family law proceedings.
Cathy joined the Agency in 2000. She qualified in 1990 and has experience
in statutory family and childcare social work; working with adolescents and
their families whilst seconded to Whitefield House and as Child Protection
Officer for NSPCC, she gained experience of risk assessment and parenting
assessment. She undertook research into post adoption contact as part of
Research Methods & Quality Assurance in Health & Social Services (UUJ)
in 2008. She completed a Masters in Advanced Social Work in 2009 and
obtained the Advanced Award in Social Work.
Appointed to the self employed panel in November 2010, Corinne had
previously been employed by City of Westminster, London since 1993 where
she worked as a social worker and senior manager within statutory children
& families services. Corinne has a particular interest in children and young
people’s participation within decision-making. Corinne works as a self-employed
guardian.

Cathy Donnelly

Cathy Owens

Corinne Gorman

Deirdre Allen

Appointed to the Agency in 2011. Prior to joining the Agency, Deirdre worked
as a social worker for the Belfast Trust for 12 years within family and childcare.
Deidre worked in child protection and also in the Kinship Team in the Fostering
Department.

Des Elliot

Appointed to the Agency in January 2001. Des previously worked in Foyle
HSST for 12 years. He worked in both residential and field work and has an
interest in outcomes for children leaving care.
Appointed to the self employed panel in October 1996. Eithne qualified in 1985
and worked in family and child care in the Homefirst area and Causeway HSST.
Eithne works as a self-employed guardian.
Appointed to the Agency in June 2007. Elaine has 16 years experience
in working with children, young people and their families both at social worker
and senior practitioner levels. Elaine has a particular interest in child protection
work.

Eithne Daly

Elaine Doherty
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Name
Elaine Holmes

Profile
Appointed to the Agency in April 1999. Elaine was previously employed
by Homefirst HSST for 6 years as a social worker and senior social work
practitioner specialising in child protection and court work. In August
2010 Elaine obtained the Northern Ireland Specialist Award in Social Work and
the Diploma in Applied Social Studies (Child Care) Queen’s University Belfast.
In 2011 she achieved the MSc in Applied Social Studies (Child Care) with
commendation, Queen’s University Belfast.

Ellen Forgrave

Appointed to the self employed Panel in September 2007. Ellen qualified as
a social worker in 1987 from the University of Ulster. Ellen’s primary work
experience had been as a social worker, senior practitioner and social work
manager within Northern and Western Trust areas. Since gaining her Practice
Teacher Award in 1995, she has also been regularly involved in social work
training with a number of students from the various Northern Ireland university
programmes.
Appointed to the Agency in April 1998. Fiona has 13 years experience in
working with children, young people and families both in the residential sector
and in fieldwork.
Appointed to the Agency in September 1998. Fiona qualified in 1990 and
worked with children and families in Armagh and Dungannon HSST and South
and East Belfast HSST.
Appointed to the Agency in September 1998. Geraldine has 10 years
experience in working with children and their families in England. She worked
for 1 year in London as a residential worker followed by 9 years as a field
worker in Cheshire.
Appointed to the self-employed panel in January 2009. Heather qualified in
1994 and has worked in family and child care in North and West Belfast HSST
and as a School Counsellor in post primary schools in Sligo. More recently, she
has lectured in South West College and Sligo Institute of Technology.
Appointed to the Agency in January 2008. Janice has 14 years experience
in working with children and families at social work, senior practitioner and
managerial levels in field work and residential settings. Janice was previously
employed by the Southern Health and Social Care Trust.
Appointed to the Agency in May 1997. Jean has worked in the area of child
care for 12 years in Down Lisburn HSST. She has a particular interest in
researching children’s experiences of adoption.
Appointed to the Agency in December 2006. Jim has 24 years experience
working in family and child care as a practitioner and a manager. Jim was
previously employed in the London Borough of Barnet, North and West Belfast
Trust and South and East Belfast Trust.
Appointed to the Agency in September 2004. Julie qualified as a social worker
in January 1999. Since then Julie has worked exclusively in family and child care
as a practitioner and senior social worker in South and East Belfast HSST. She
has a particular interest in the area of child protection and risk assessment.

Fiona Armstrong

Fiona McAlinden

Geraldine Hughes

Heather Forster

Janice Hazelton

Jean Tubman

Jim McAlister

Julie Johnston
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Name
Kara Doran

Karen McGrath

Mari Donnelly
Marie Fenton

Maureen Brassil

Maureen Connolly

Profile
Appointed to the Agency in October 2010. Since qualifying in 1998 Kara has
worked within Family and Child Care in the Southern Health and Social Care
Trust in residential and fieldwork and most recently within a Barnardo’s Family
Centre as a Senior Practitioner which included the role of Court Children’s
Officer.
Appointed to the Agency in September 2007. Karen was previously employed
for 6 years by North and West Belfast Health and Social Services Trust.
Over this time Karen gained experience in working with children and families
at both social worker and senior practitioner levels within the Looked after
Children and Child Protection teams.
Appointed to the Agency in November 1997. Mari has 18 years experience
working in various family and child care settings.
Appointed to the Agency in March 2004. Marie qualified as a social worker
in 1983 and has worked mainly in family and child care, including four years in
a specialist post adoption team. Marie has also been a University Lecturer in
Social Work and an Associate Research Fellow.
Appointed to the Agency in May 1997. Maureen qualified in 1988 and
worked in Down Lisburn HSST within family and childcare. In 1994 she
specialised in the area of Child Abuse; investigation and treatment at the
Child Care Centre, Belfast then returned to Down & Lisburn HSST in 1995
and managed a unit dealing with the assessment and treatment of suspected/
confirmed cases of Child Abuse. Maureen has undertaken extensive training
in this area.
Maureen was appointed to the Agency in November 2011. She qualified in
2003 and worked within Family and Childcare, Down Lisburn Trust as both
a Social Worker and Senior Practitioner. In 2008 Maureen moved to work
with the NSPCC’s Young Witness Service working with children who had
to give evidence in criminal proceedings. She also worked as a Sessional
Supervisor with NSPCC’s Childline. Maureen was awarded the BSc (Hons)
in Professional Development in Social Work in 2006 having completed Post
Qualifying Awards and the Child Care Award at Queen’s University, Belfast.

Michael
McCluskey

Appointed to the Agency in September 1999. Michael qualified as a social
worker in 1984. He worked in fieldwork child care settings in the Northern
and Eastern Board Areas for much of this time. More recently he has been
involved in projects, both statutory and voluntary, addressing the treatment of
individuals who engage in sexually abusive behaviour.

Nadine
McCullough

Appointed to the Agency in April 2002. Nadine qualified as a social worker
in 1996 in Scotland. Since then she has worked in Glasgow in the area of
Family and Child Care, both as a social worker, and senior social worker,
before returning to Northern Ireland in 2002 to take up her current post. In
2007 Nadine completed the Certificate in Research Methods and Quality
Assurance in Health and Social Services. Nadine has a particular interest in
child protection work.
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Name
Noel McGuigan

Nuala Hayes

Patricia McDonnell

Profile
Since qualifying in 1979 Noel has worked in a variety of practitioner and
management posts in Belfast HSC Trust and from 1987 has worked exclusively with children and families. Originally seconded to the Agency in January 2001 Noel obtained a permanent post in January 2002.
Appointed to the self employed panel in December 2006. Nuala qualified in
1995 and has worked mainly in family and childcare. Nuala is also a tutor on
the Social Work degree course at Queens University Belfast.
Appointed to the self employed panel in September 1998. Patricia qualified
as a social worker in 1984 and has worked in the family and childcare field
mainly in the area of adoption. She has worked in London, Down Lisburn
HSST and South and East Belfast HSST. Patricia has a special interest in
adoption work. Patricia works as a self-employed guardian.

Patricia Owens

Appointed to the Agency in April 2009 Patricia has worked in the area of
family and childcare for 17 years in the statutory and voluntary sector. She
has experience at social work, team manager and principal practitioner levels and was previously employed by NSPCC and South Eastern Health and
Social Care Trust. Patricia’s area of particular interest is therapeutic work
with children.

Paula O’Brien

Appointed to the Agency in November 1997. Paula qualified in 1990 and
before joining NIGALA previously worked for Homefirst Community HSST
for 7 years, gaining experience in both fieldwork and family centre settings.
Paula also works part-time as a Cognitive Therapist and has a special interest in how mental health issues impact on families. Paula is also qualified
in the use of Makaton, a communication system specially designed to help
children and adults who have communication and learning difficulties.

Peter McAlister

Appointed to the Agency in September 1998. Peter has worked in a variety
of family and child care settings, both residential and fieldwork for 16 years.

Rebecca Moyne

Appointed to the Agency in January 2008. Rebecca qualified as a Social
Worker in 1993. Since that time she has worked in a variety of settings:
intake and assessment, juvenile justice, family centre and generic family
and child care. Rebecca then worked for two years as a Probation Officer
(1997-1999) before becoming Team Leader in the Family and Child Care
Team in Magherafelt (NHSCT) in August 1999. Throughout her career she
has gained wide experience within children’s services and has a specific
interest in Child Protection and Looked After children.
Appointed to the self employed panel in September 1998. Rita qualified in
1982 and worked within family and child care in the Southern Area Board
and Sperrin Lakeland HSST. Prior to joining the Agency on a self employed
basis, Rita worked in a fostering and adoption team. She is interested in
permanency planning and attachment formation.

Rita Taggart
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Name
Sandra Beetson

Profile
Appointed to the Agency in January 2009. Sandra has 18 years
experience working with children and families at social work, senior
practitioner and managerial levels in field work and residential settings.
Sandra was previously employed by the Belfast Health & Social Care Trust.
She has a particular interest in the area of contact in public proceedings.

Sharon Farmer

Appointed by the Agency in June 2004, Sharon has 17 years experience in
Family and child care as a social worker and as Team leader for S.S.A.F.A
for 18 months. Sharon is presently on the register of Tutors and part-time
lecturers at Queen University in Social Work.
Appointed to the Agency in October 1996. Roisin has 22 years experience
working with children and families and has worked for the former South &
East Belfast H&SS Trust for 4 years and in the voluntary sector for 10 years.
Roisin has a special interest in domestic and intercountry adoption. Roisin
completed the MSc in Advanced Social Work (QUB & UUJ) between 20052008 and gained the Advanced Award in Social Work. She also completed
the Research Methods in Social Work course in 2007.
Appointed to the Agency in May 1999. Sean was previously employed by
Homefirst HSST where he gained experience in working with children and
families at both social worker and team leader levels. During this time Sean
developed a special interest in short term investigative work including joint
protocol and video evidence. Sean has also completed a Degree in Law
(LLB) in 2007 and has a specialist interest in intercountry adoption and
surrogacy.

Roisin Smyth

Sean Mulligan

Suzan Rogers

Teresa Fallon

Appointed to the Agency in May 2011. Suzan previously worked in the South
Eastern Trust for 14 years in residential and fieldwork, before moving to a
family centre where she carried out parenting assessments and therapeutic
work with children. She obtained a Post Qualifying Award in 2003, Advanced
Award in Social Work in 2008 and in 2004 Suzan completed a Diploma in
Applied Social Learning Theory, and subsequently practised as a Behaviour
Therapist. Suzan was a Lay Magistrate for 6 years, sitting mainly in Youth
Courts. Her interests are in infant mental health and she specialised in this
area within the Trust, delivering training to professionals/parents.
Appointed to the Agency in October 1996. Teresa has 18 years experience
working with children and families and was an approved mental health social
worker. She worked in London for 13 years and, prior to joining the Agency,
taught for 2 years at the North West Institute. Teresa is currently completing
her MSc in Advanced Social Work.
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Name
Tina Enlander

Tony Macklin

Wilma Reid

Profile
Appointed to the Agency in July 2003. Tina qualified in 1992 having 15 years
experience in the voluntary and education sectors. Since qualifying she has
primarily worked within Homefirst as a social worker and senior practitioner
in Children Services specialising in fostering, adoption and training. Tina has
completed a Masters in Art Psychotherapy and she is a Health Professions
Council registered Art Therapist.
Appointed to the Agency in October 1996. Tony qualified in 1989 having come
to social work as a mature student. He has worked exclusively in family and
child care in fieldwork and residential settings in the voluntary and statutory
sectors. Tony previously worked in South and East Belfast HSST. Since becoming self employed in 2004 Tony has also worked as a Guardian ad Litem
in the Republic of Ireland with the Beacon GAL service run by Barnardos, and
provides Independent Social Work reports in private proceedings.
Appointed to the Agency in October 1996. Wilma has been employed as a
social worker for more than 20 years and has extensive experience in working
with children and families both in residential and fieldwork settings. She has
previously acted as a guardian ad litem for the Birmingham Panel.

ALTERNATIVE FORMATS
This report can be made available in a number of different formats upon request. To obtain a different
format please contact Patricia O’Kane (Assistant Director) on Telephone no: 02890 316550 or Text
Phone no: 028 90 329674
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FEEDBACK
The Northern Ireland Guardian Ad Litem Agency is interested in finding out what our readers think of
the 2011/12 Annual Report and welcomes your views in order to help make further improvements in next
year’s publication. Please can you answer the questions below and return the sheet to the address at the
bottom of this page.
Please tick the appropriate box

How easily understood was the information?
Too Simple 

About Right 

Too Detailed 

How interesting was the information?
Not at all

A Little 

Very 

How relevant was the information to you?
Not at all 

A Little 

Very 

How well is the annual report laid out?
Very Well 

About Right 

Badly 

Comments

Once completed please place in an envelope and send free of charge to:
Northern Ireland Guardian Ad Litem Agency
FREEPOST BEL 3049
BELFAST
BT1 4BR
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Centre House
79 Chichester Street
BELFAST
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Fax: 028 90 319811
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